File No. <u>190790</u>

Committee Item No. <u>7</u> Board Item No. _____

COMMITTEE/BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

AGENDA PACKET CONTENTS LIST

Committee: <u>Government Audit and Oversight</u> Board of Supervisors Meeting:

Date: <u>Sept. 19, 2019</u> Date: _____

Cmte Board

		Motion Resolution			
		Ordinance			
		Legislative Digest			
		Budget and Legislative Analyst Report			
		Youth Commission Report			
\boxtimes		Introduction Form			
		Department/Agency Cover Letter and/or Report			
		MOU			
		Grant Information Form			
		Grant Budget			
		Subcontract Budget			
		Contract/Agreement			
		Form 126 – Ethics Commission			
		Award Letter			
		Application			
		Public Correspondence			
OTHER					

\bowtie	City Attorney Response – Received September 11, 2019
\bowtie	Civil Grand Jury Report – July 17, 2019
\bowtie	COB Letter – July 24, 2019
\boxtimes	Response Matrices
\boxtimes	Transmittal Letters
\boxtimes	

Prepared by:	John Carroll	Date:	Sept. 12, 2019
Prepared by:	John Carroll	Date:	

RESOLUTION NO.

[Board Response - Civil Grand Jury Report - Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices]

Resolution responding to the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court on the findings and recommendations contained in the 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury Report, entitled "Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices;" and urging the Mayor to cause the implementation of accepted findings and recommendations through his/her department heads and through the development of the annual budget.

WHEREAS, Under California Penal Code, Section 933 et seq., the Board of Supervisors must respond, within 90 days of receipt, to the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court on the findings and recommendations contained in Civil Grand Jury Reports; and

WHEREAS, In accordance with California Penal Code, Section 933.05(c), if a finding or recommendation of the Civil Grand Jury addresses budgetary or personnel matters of a county agency or a department headed by an elected officer, the agency or department head and the Board of Supervisors shall respond if requested by the Civil Grand Jury, but the response of the Board of Supervisors shall address only budgetary or personnel matters over which it has some decision making authority; and

WHEREAS, Under San Francisco Administrative Code, Section 2.10(a), the Board of Supervisors must conduct a public hearing by a committee to consider a final report of the findings and recommendations submitted, and notify the current foreperson and immediate past foreperson of the civil grand jury when such hearing is scheduled; and

WHEREAS, In accordance with San Francisco Administrative Code, Section 2.10(b), the Controller must report to the Board of Supervisors on the implementation of recommendations that pertain to fiscal matters that were considered at a public hearing held by a Board of Supervisors Committee; and

Clerk of the Board BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

WHEREAS, The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury Report, entitled "Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices" ("Report") is on file with the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors in File No. 190789, which is hereby declared to be a part of this Resolution as if set forth fully herein; and

WHEREAS, The Civil Grand Jury has requested that the Board of Supervisors respond to Finding No. F7, as well as Recommendation No. R6, contained in the subject Report; and

WHEREAS, Finding No. F7 states: "A key obligation of the Pedestrian Safety Advisory" Committee (PSAC) is to prepare and submit annual reports to the Board of Supervisors (BOS). These reports are to include pedestrian injury and fatality statistics and root cause analysis, to recommend changes in policies, funding and enforcement. PSAC has not prepared or submitted an annual report since 2011;" and

WHEREAS, Recommendation No. R6 states: "The Board of Supervisors should allow the Public Safety Advisory Committee to terminate on October 1, 2019 as designated in the San Francisco Municipal Code;" and

WHEREAS, In accordance with California Penal Code, Section 933.05(c), the Board of Supervisors must respond, within 90 days of receipt, to the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court on Finding No. F7, as well as Recommendation No. R6, contained in the subject Report; now, therefore, be it

RESOLVED, That the Board of Supervisors reports to the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court that they with Finding No. F7 for reason as follows:

; and, be it

FURTHER RESOLVED, That the Board of Supervisors reports that Recommendation No. R2 ; and, be it

Clerk of the Board BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

FURTHER RESOLVED, That the Board of Supervisors urges the Mayor to cause the implementation of the accepted findings and recommendations through his/her department heads and through the development of the annual budget.

Clerk of the Board BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO



OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY

Dennis J. Herrera City Attorney

Direct Dial: (415) 554-4700

August 29, 2019

Hon. Garrett L. Wong Presiding Judge San Francisco Superior Court 400 McAllister Street San Francisco, CA 94102

Re: City Attorney's Office Response to the July 16, 2019 Civil Grand Jury Report entitled, "Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices"

Dear Judge Wong:

In accordance with Penal Code Sections 933 and 933.05, the Office of the City Attorney submits the following response to the July 2019 Civil Grand Jury Report entitled, *Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*. The Grand Jury requested that this office respond to the report.

For each Civil Grand Jury finding for which the Grand Jury has requested a response, the statutes require the respondent to either:

- 1. agree with the finding; or
- 2. disagree with it, wholly or partially, and explain why.

For each Civil Grand Jury recommendation for which the Grand Jury has requested a response, the statutes require the respondent to report:

- 1. that the recommendation has been implemented, with a summary explanation of how it was implemented;
- 2. the recommendation has not been implemented, but will be implemented in the future, with a time frame for the implementation;
- 3. the recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation of the scope of that analysis and a time frame for the officer or agency head to be prepared to discuss it (less than six months from the release of the report); or
- 4. that the recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation of why that is.

CITY HALL • 1 DR. CARLTON B. GOODLET PLACE, ROOM 234 • SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94102 RECEPTION: (415) 554-4700 • FACSIMILE: (415) 554-4745 Findings 5 and 6, and Recommendation 5 seek a response from the City Attorney, among others. The City Attorney submits the following responses on behalf of the City Attorney's Office:

Finding 5.

The Pilot terms between the City and permittees require them to indemnify the City from injury and damage claims. However, Scoot and Skip Terms of Service put responsibility for injury, damage, and equipment inspection on the User.

City Attorney's Office Response To Finding 5.

Partially agree and disagree. It is correct that the permittees in the City's Powered Scooter Share Pilot Program, including Skip and Scoot, are required to indemnify the City. While Scoot and Skip in their Terms of Service pass down responsibility for liability to their individual users, Scoot and Skip are still each primarily responsible to the City through the indemnity for any claims against the City related to activity authorized under the respective operator's permit with the City.

Finding 6.

Current terms and conditions in the Skip agreement expose a contractual gap that delegates initial responsibility for scooter inspection and maintenance to their independent contractors, Skip Rangers, who receive no specific training from Skip. Scoot, however, hires and trains its employees to provide the inspection and maintenance services.

City Attorney's Office Response To Finding 6.

Partially agree and disagree. While it appears that the Skip Charger Agreement referenced in the report does not contain an express training requirement, that omission does not necessarily mean that the Skip Rangers lack the requisite training or experience to properly inspect its scooters. Moreover, the SFMTA informs us that the Skip Rangers are made up of 80% independent contractors and 20% Skip employees, and that Skip employees are trained. We do not know about the training or experience of the independent contractors and do not express an opinion about that.

Recommendation 5.

SFMTA, City Attorney, and TNCs should review and if necessary modify the City-Permittee agreement, the TNC-User agreement, and any other related agreements to assure that responsibility for risk management is allocated to the party/parties best able to manage such risks. This review and potential modification of terms across all agreements should be initiated prior to the end of the existing Pilot. Any necessary revisions should be incorporated and implemented in all agreements for the replacement program to follow at the conclusion of the Pilot.

City Attorney's Office Response To Recommendation 5.

Recommendation #5 has been implemented in part. In consultation with the SFMTA, the City Attorney's Office has reviewed the City permits, the agreements between the Powered

Letter to Garrett L. Wong Page 3

Scooter Share Operators¹ and their users, and the Skip Charger Agreement referenced in the report before the end of the existing Pilot Program.

In consultation with the SFMTA, the City Attorney's Office has specifically reviewed whether to modify the permit terms to fill any potential gap in responsibility as between the Powered Scooter Share Operators and their independent contractors. At the end of July 2019, SFMTA issued a new permit application for the replacement permit program, and the SFMTA informs us that it anticipates issuing the next round of permits with a term to commence after the Pilot Program concludes in mid-October 2019. The permit application contains anticipated terms and conditions for the new program, and includes the following new clause in the permit terms to address any potential gap in responsibility between permittee and its independent contractors for obligations under the permit:

Permittee may subcontract or delegate portions of its obligations only upon prior written approval of SFMTA. Permittee is responsible for, and must supervise, its personnel and all subcontractors, including independent contractors, who perform obligations under the permit. Any agreement made in violation of this provision shall be null and void.

Also, SFMTA added a provision requiring that permittees "educate and train" any independent contractors who perform any part of the permittee's maintenance, cleaning, staffing, and repair plan.

Recommendation #5 has not been implemented as to modifying the City permits to allocate risk as between the Powered Scooter Share Operators and users to the party best able to manage such risks. The City Risk Manager recommended that it is not advisable for the City to insert itself into the risk allocation as between the Powered Scooter Share Operators and their customers because the City could face unwarranted risk exposure for assessments for which it does not have the authority to manage. Based on that recommendation, the SFMTA did not modify the permits to allocate risk between the operators and users.

We hope this information is helpful.

Very truly yours,

DENNIS J. HERRERA City Attorney

¹ The Grand Jury Report refers to the Powered Scooter Share Operators as "Transportation Network Companies" or "TNCs." We do not use that term because, under State law, that term has a specific meaning and refers to "prearranged transportation services ... to connect passengers and drivers using a personal vehicle." (Cal. Pub. Util. Code § 5431.)



CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO 2018-2019 CIVIL GRAND JURY

PEDESTRIAN SAFETY IN THE ERA OF ELECTRIC MOBILITY DEVICES





CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO 2018-2019 CIVIL GRAND JURY

THE CIVIL GRAND JURY AND ITS OPERATIONS

California state law requires that all 58 counties impanel a Grand Jury to serve during each fiscal year. California Penal Code Section 905; California Constitution, Article I, Section 23

The Civil Grand Jury investigates and reports on one or more aspects of the County's departments, operations, or functions. California Penal Code Sections 925, 933(a)

Reports of the Civil Grand Jury do not identify individuals interviewed by name. California Penal Code Section 929

The Civil Grand Jury issues reports with findings and recommendations resulting from its investigations to the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court. California Penal Code Section 933(a)

Each published report includes a list of those elected officials or departments that are required to respond to the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court within 60 or 90 days as specified. California Penal Code Section 933

California Penal Code Section 933.05 is very specific with respect to the content of the required responses. Under Section 933.05(a), for each finding, the response must:

- 1) Agree with the finding, or
- 2) Disagree with it, wholly or partially, and explain why.

Similarly, under Penal Code Section 933.05(b), for each recommendation, the responding party must report that:

1) The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implemented action; or

2) The recommendation has not been implemented but will be within a set timeframe; or

3) The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation of what additional study is needed, and the timeframe for conducting that additional study and the preparation of suitable material for discussion. This timeframe may not exceed six months from the date of publication of the Civil Grand Jury's report; or

4) The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Any San Francisco resident who is a US citizen and is interested in volunteering to serve on the Civil Grand Jury for the City and County of San Francisco is urged to apply. Additional information about the San Francisco Civil Grand Jury, including past reports, can be found online at http://civilgrandjurv.sfgov.org/index.html.



CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO 2018-2019 CIVIL GRAND JURY

MEMBERSHIP ROSTER

RASHA HARVEY (Foreperson) JANET ANDREWS HOWES (Parliamentarian) LINDA BADGER ANDREW BENJAMIN GORDON CRESPO KRISTINE EQUIHUA (Technology Secretary) STEPHEN GARBER JONATHAN HILL LEONARD KULLY (Correspondence Secretary) WILLIAM LEE (Foreperson Pro Tem) FRANK NETTLETON NONA RUSSELL RANDALL SMITH (Recording Secretary) KAAREN STRAUCH BROWN RUSH STURGES MARTHA SUTHERLIN JASON TAM MICHAEL WIXTED

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

All trips within San Francisco begin and end with walking. For 17% of the population, walking is the primary mode of all trips.¹ San Francisco pedestrians are the most vulnerable road users – accounting for half of all San Francisco traffic fatalities. On May 11, 2019, the death of another pedestrian marked the eighth death so far in 2019 – four times the number that occurred by the same time in 2018.²

The arrival in 2017 of shared motorized personal mobility devices – primarily electric scooters (e-scooters), but also electric bicycles and various types of motorized skateboards – quickly generated conflicts with pedestrians, as some under-informed users of these devices used sidewalks as their preferred travel lanes to minimize their own risk of collisions with cars.

The expectation of pedestrian safety is eroded when pedestrian rights-of-way are ignored on sidewalks as well as in intersections.

In addition to the conflicts generated by active use of the new devices, e-scooters were being left in the middle of sidewalks, and walkers complained the scooters were tripping hazards. Starting in April 2018, complaints regarding electric scooters surged into the City's primary customer service center (SF311), by telephone and through the SF311 smartphone app.³ For example, on April 13, 2018, there were 32 requests to remove motorized, dockless scooters.

The San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA) responded quickly to the need for structure, cooperation, and data-driven actions. It first banned shared-ride e-scooters from City streets and confiscated the devices left on sidewalks. During this ban, it developed and then launched a twelve-month Powered Scooter Share Permit and Pilot program (the "Pilot") that officially began in October 2018. The San Francisco Civil Grand Jury (SFCGJ) commends SFMTA and other involved organizations for their actions and planning.

This SFCGJ investigation reviewed the status and progress of San Francisco's efforts with regard to pedestrian safety and emerging mobility options. These efforts improve pedestrian safety and support policies and procedures suitable for the personal mobility advancements yet to arrive on San Francisco's sidewalks, bike lanes, and streets.

The key Findings and Recommendations presented in this report focus on ways to improve:

- Education and outreach for pedestrians and motorized device users;
- Enforcement of existing ordinances and laws to help reduce injuries;
- Injury data capture to better identify root causes; and

¹ WalkFirst San Francisco Pedestrian Safety Capital Improvement Program: A step towards Vision Zero, page 3, accessed May 3, 2019.

² <u>https://www.sfchronicle.com/bayarea/article/Fatal-fall-involving-bus-marks-SF-s-eighth-13841137.php?psid=3pqQ1</u>, accessed June 7, 2019.

³ https://www.sfexaminer.com/news/scooter-complaints-to-sfs-311-surge/, accessed May 31, 20

• Contractual terms regarding liability and responsibility for injuries, device maintenance, and repair.

Specific Findings and Recommendations are presented in separate sections of this report and in a summary table as **Appendix A**.

San Francisco has always been, and will likely remain, a forward-looking City and an incubator for innovation. Future social and technical innovations will challenge existing conditions upon arrival. Personal mobility devices are expected to evolve rapidly and to test the City's commitment to "... create a transportation system that is among the best in the world."⁴

⁴ San Francisco Charter Article VIIIA, The Municipal Transportation Agency, Section 8.A.100 Preamble,<u>http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll/California/charter_sf/charter?f=templates\$fn=default.htm\$3.0\$</u> <u>vid=amlegal:sanfrancisco_ca\$anc=JD_</u>Charter, accessed April 19, 2019.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ction	Page No.	
Executive Summary	1	
Table of Contents	3	
Background and Problem Statement	4	
Background	4	
Problem Statement	7	
Methodology	8	
Discussion	10	
Education	10	
Engineering	12	
Enforcement	16	
Injury Data	18	
Liability Issues and e-scooter-Related Agreements	20	
SF Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee	26	
Findings	28	
Recommendations	29	
Required Responses		
Glossary		
Appendices	32	
Appendix A: Table of Findings and Recommendations		
Appendix B: Table of Findings with Required Responses		
Appendix C: Table of Recommendations with Required Responses		
Appendix D: Assembly Bill AB2989: Motorized scooter: use of helmet: maximum speed	40	
Appendix E: e-scooter-Related Injury Data	42	
Appendix F: Liability Issues and e-scooter-Related Agreements	43	

BACKGROUND AND PROBLEM STATEMENT

Background

The preamble to the San Francisco City Charter Section 8.A, Transportation,⁵ states that:

An effective, efficient, and safe transportation system is vital for San Francisco to achieve its goals for quality of life, environmental sustainability, public health, social justice, and economic growth. The Municipal Transportation Agency must manage San Francisco's transportation system that includes automobile, freight, transit, bicycle, and pedestrian networks to help the City meet those goals... in order to create a transportation system that is among the best in the world.

In 2018, 23 people lost their lives while traveling on City streets. Historically, over 200 people are seriously injured each year in San Francisco.⁶ These deaths and injuries are unacceptable and preventable, and over the past several years, San Francisco has worked towards stopping further loss of life as highlighted below.

In 2003, the Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee (PSAC) was established to provide insight into issues concerning pedestrian safety, convenience, ambiance, and planning. PSAC prepared and submitted its reports to the Board of Supervisors (BOS) in 2009, 2010, and 2011.

In late 2013, San Francisco launched a community outreach program called WalkFirst, a first-ofits-kind initiative in the United States to improve pedestrian safety in San Francisco.⁷ WalkFirst was a joint project of the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA), the San Francisco Planning Department, the Department of Public Health (SFDPH), and the Controller's Office. Their objectives focused on actionable recommendations to reduce serious or fatal pedestrian injuries by 25 percent by 2016 and by 50 percent by 2021.

In 2014, the City adopted Vision Zero,⁸ a policy with a goal to create safer, more livable streets as City departments work to eliminate traffic fatalities. SFMTA, in implementation of Vision Zero objectives, advocates for pedestrian safety and for reductions in single-occupancy automobile use – fewer motor vehicles on the roads means less congestion and fewer injuries.⁹ In 2016, to increase awareness of this goal, Vision Zero began a campaign with radio spots, bus shelter ads, and on-bus ads.

⁵ San Francisco Charter Article VIIIA, The Municipal Transportation Agency, Section 8.A.100 Preamble

⁶ <u>https://sfgov.org/scorecards/transportation/traffic-fatalities</u>, accessed June 7, 2019.

⁷ <u>http://walkfirst.sfplanning.org/</u>, accessed June 4, 2019.

⁸ SFMTA Vision Zero web page at <u>https://www.sfmta.com/getting-around/walk/vision-zero-sf</u>.

⁹ Vision Zero San Francisco commits city agencies to build better and safer streets, educate the public on traffic safety, enforce traffic laws, and adopt policy changes that save lives.", from <u>https://www.visionzerosf.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/VZAS_040419_web.pdf</u>, accessed April 19, 2019.

In July 2017, the San Francisco County Transportation Authority (SFCTA) and the SFMTA adopted ten Guiding Principles to evaluate the impact and benefits of emerging mobility services and technologies.¹⁰ The ten principles are listed in **Figure 1**. The Guiding Principles are a tool used by the SFMTA to evaluate how powered e-scooter share services can support City goals. Six of the Guiding Principles were particularly relevant to the SFCGJ investigation process.¹¹

In 2018, San Francisco witnessed the introduction of sharedride electric e-scooters. Soon after that, sidewalks became lanes for riding and dropping e-scooters, endangering both pedestrians and riders.

Significant 2018 events included:

In February, Bird, Lime, and Spin flooded San Francisco streets with 60 e-scooters over Saint Patrick's weekend. These companies did not approach SFMTA about e-scooters and how to incorporate them into the City's transportation plan.¹²

In March, the BOS crafted legislation amending the transportation code to establish a violation for e-scooters left unattended on public rights-of-way.¹³



Figure 1 SFMTA 10 Guiding Principles for Emerging Mobility Evaluations

In April, there was a high volume of complaints to the SF 311

service about e-scooters.¹⁴ In response, a Cease and Desist Order was issued by the SF City Attorney to temporarily stop e-scooter usage in the City.¹⁵

By late April, the BOS passed legislation providing that any company operating a shared, powered scooter service in the City must have a permit from SFMTA. In alignment with this legislation, SFMTA created the Powered Scooter Share Permit and Pilot program (the "Pilot"), with an application process for interested companies.¹⁶ As part of the permit application process,

¹⁰ <u>https://www.sfcta.org/sites/default/files/2019-02/Emerging%20Mobility%20Studies_exec_summary.pdf</u>, accessed April 26, 2019.

¹¹ Ibid., Safety, Disabled Access, Equitable Access, Collaboration, Labor, Sustainability

¹² https://sfbay.ca/2018/03/19/lime-bike-e-scooters-flood-san-francisco-streets/ accessed 6/2/2019.

¹³ Íbid.

¹⁴ https://www.sfexaminer.com/news/scooter-complaints-to-sfs-311-surge/, April 21, 2018, accessed April 26, 2019.

¹⁵<u>https://www.sfcityattorney.org/2018/05/23/san-francisco-announces-next-steps-regulating-shared-motorized-scooters/</u> accessed 6/2/2019.

16 https://www.sfmta.com/projects/powered-scooter-share-permit-and-pilot-program accessed May 3, 2019.

each company was required to demonstrate how it would minimize its powered e-scooters' impact on the sidewalks of San Francisco. The application process required the companies to:

- offer user education;
- be insured;
- share trip data with the City;
- have a privacy policy to protect user information;
- provide a plan for low-income users;
- propose a service area.

Applications were due in June. In late August, SFMTA announced that shared-ride companies Scoot and Skip (also called Transportation Network Companies, or TNCs) were found to have the capacity to meet all permit requirements and to operate in the public interest.

The Pilot began in mid-October 2018 for a 12-month period.¹⁷

The Pilot allows for a maximum of 1,250 e-scooters on the streets in the first six months of the program. Depending on compliance with the conditions of the Pilot, up to an additional 1,250 scooters may become available for months seven through twelve. As of May 24, 2019, the SFMTA is reviewing and verifying information provided by the permittees to decide if additional scooters can be added to a maximum of 800 for each TNC.

During the first half of the Pilot (mid-October 2018 to April 2019), SFMTA and the permittees addressed an initial complaint about e-scooters left on sidewalks, in front of ADA access ramps, and in front of doorways. In response, they incorporated a locking device on the e-scooters that users activate to both begin and end their shared rides. While these "lock-to" methods differ by model, the use of the locking mechanism eliminated the casual drop of e-scooters, reduced theft, and improved sidewalk safety.

SFMTA completed a Mid-Pilot Evaluation¹⁸ of Scoot and Skip, and their key findings were:

- Complaints about sidewalk riding and improper parking were significantly reduced under the Pilot;
- With the lock-to design in place, issues with pedestrian safety and sidewalk blockage have declined;
- While California law doesn't require scooter riders over the age of 18 to wear helmets, SFMTA will continue to encourage TNC commitment to helmet distribution and rider education as beneficial actions towards injury prevention;
- Greater attention to equity considerations is needed to ensure powered e-scooter programs serve disadvantaged areas and low-income individuals;

- 6 -

SFCGJ2018-2019_PedestrianSafety-06.29

¹⁷ <u>https://www.sfmta.com/projects/powered-scooter-share-permit-and-pilot-program%20,%20accessed%206/2/2019</u>, accessed June 2, 2019.

¹⁸ <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2019/04/powered_scooter_share_mid-pilot_evaluation_appendices_final.pdf</u>

- The demand for powered shared e-scooters is strong, and may have an impact in reducing private auto use:
- When properly regulated, powered e-scooter share systems can serve the public interest.

SFMTA recommendations included:

- Continue monitoring the Pilot;
- Promote safety as a top priority. Based on collision and injury data, the SFMTA recommends continued education and rider accountability, increased helmet access and usage, and permittees improving communication to riders on the steps to take when a collision occurs;
- Ensure progress in the areas that need improvement, particularly equity;
- Continue monitoring permittee compliance and to complete the Pilot evaluation in the fall of 2019. The full evaluation of the 12-month Pilot will include:
 - understanding the safety impact of scooters and opportunities for infrastructure and non-infrastructure improvements by reviewing collision reports, specifically those involving injury;
 - assessing the impact of scooter share on the public right of way; and
 - eliminating sidewalk riding.

At the time of this report, Pilot implementation continues and is being monitored by SFMTA and other involved agencies.

Problem Statement

The advent of new forms of motorized transportation has created an unprecedented situation affecting all modes of transportation in San Francisco, requiring adaptations in the design and regulation of all modes.

Of all the concerns raised by the new situation, the safety of pedestrians is the most urgent. That has been our particular focus in this report; however, addressing that has required a broader examination of the systems involved.

Some of the questions raised are: Where do these motorized devices belong? In bike lanes? Protected bike lanes? What infrastructure is needed to keep residents and tourists safe? Do these new transportation modes add value to the City's transportation system? These are some of the questions our investigation reviewed.

METHODOLOGY

The SFCGJ concentrated its investigation on the following six topics:

- Education, for safe e-scooter riding and behavior;
- Engineering, providing supportive infrastructure (such as bike racks) and safe (protected) lanes;
- Enforcement, for adherence to City and State codes;
- Injury Data Review, on the impact on pedestrian safety from electric mobility devices;
- E-scooter user agreements between the permittees and their customers, determining the effects of the agreements and their terms on the goals of the Pilot; and
- The San Francisco Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee (PSAC): evaluating its effectiveness.

The topics of Education, Engineering, and Enforcement are key criteria of Vision Zero and the shared e-scooter Pilot. Vision Zero reviews Injury Data collected by the San Francisco Department of Health, the San Francisco Police Department (SFPD), Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital (ZSFG), and self-reporting by the two TNCs, to assess progress towards Vision Zero goals. The various Agreements reviewed as part of this SFCGJ investigation are discussed in later sections of this report. The sixth topic reviewed by the SFCGJ regards the PSAC Committee established in 2003 – years ahead of the advent of shared-ride services – and its relevance given the current involvement and leadership within Vision Zero and SFMTA.

The SFCGJ reviewed documents; literature; agency websites; newspaper articles; public television reporting; and internet sites for local, national, and international data. We conducted confidential interviews with representatives from the listed agencies below. We researched how cities are handling regulation, infrastructure, injuries, and liability issues to incorporate these new modes of transportation into city life. Jurors also reviewed the user agreements and their terms and conditions.

Jurors interviewed representatives from the following organizations:

- San Francisco Metropolitan Transportation Agency;
- San Francisco Department of Public Health;
- San Francisco Police Department;
- 311 Customer Service Center;
- San Francisco Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee;
- Walk SF;
- SF Bicycle Coalition; and
- A TNC representative.

Jurors also attended meetings of the San Francisco County Transportation Authority, the San Francisco County Transportation Citizens Advisory Board, the San Francisco Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee, and the San Francisco Metropolitan Transportation Agency community meeting on the powered e-scooter Sharing program.

Jurors further attended administrative hearings on the appeals by the Jump and Lime e-scooter companies, who were denied permits for the Pilot.

DISCUSSION

This section of the report summarizes the results of SFCGJ research within the six topics of focus related to pedestrian safety:

- Education;
- Engineering;
- Enforcement;
- Injury/Death Data and e-scooters;
- E-scooter User agreements between the TNCs and their customers; and
- Relationship of, and effectiveness of, the San Francisco Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee (PSAC).

Education

One of the San Francisco Transportation Authority's "Guiding Principles" for emerging technology is Safety: "Emerging Mobility Services and Technologies must be consistent with the City and County of San Francisco's goal for achieving Vision Zero, reducing conflicts, and ensuring public safety and security".¹⁹ Vision Zero is guided by

ensuring public safety and security".¹⁹ Vision Zero is guided by safety, stating "...[p]reservation of human life is our highest priority".²⁰ Safe human behaviors through education are essential components of reaching Vision Zero.

Education works only if it engages the student (i.e., the pedestrian, transit rider, e-scooter rider, et al.). Vision Zero launched a public-awareness campaign in 2016 with radio spots, bus-shelter ads, and on-bus ads. In 2017, the City also engaged in 40 outreach events, speaking with more than 10,000 people. Based on survey data, these efforts increased public awareness of Vision Zero from 16% in 2015 to 28% in 2017.²¹

Signage can help. Figure 2 shows a sidewalk sign in the West Portal area that highlights the prohibition of device riders on the sidewalk. An SFMTA representative stated that SFMTA installs such signs upon request in business districts.



Figure 2 Sidewalk sign in West Portal

¹⁹ San Francisco County Transportation Authority web site at <u>https://www.sfcta.org/policies/emerging-mobility</u> 10 Guidíng Principles – Safety, accessed April 28, 2019.

²⁰ Vision Zero Action Strategy- Eliminating Traffic Deaths in San Francisco, page 7, at <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2019/04/vzas_040419_web.pdf</u>, accessed May 1, 2019.

²¹ Mayor's Executive Directive Year-End Progress Report for Vision Zero updated 2018, <u>http://visionzerosforg/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Exec-Directive-Progress-Report-2017-Update.pdf</u>, accessed May 2, 2019.

Encouraging e-scooter users and users of all motorized personal mobility devices to use bike lanes is another important aspect of education. Use of bike lanes by these devices, however, is not stressed as the appropriate lane in the same way education stresses that sidewalks are <u>not</u> the appropriate lane for travel. Bike lanes throughout San Francisco are mapped by SFMTA²² and the San Francisco Bicycle Coalition.²³ Google Maps provides improved route directions and mapping for bicyclists as well as pedestrians. **Figure 3** presents the web links to these mapping resources.

The two e-scooter companies, Scoot and Skip, also suggested that education is vital to user and pedestrian

San Francisco map resources for bicyclists

- <u>https://www.sfmta.com/maps/san-</u> <u>francisco-bike-network-map</u>
- <u>https://sfbike.org/resources/maps-routes/</u>
- <u>https://www.google.com/maps/dir//</u>/@37.7624225.-122.4615381.13z/data=!4m2!4m1! 3e1
 Figure 3
 Map Resources

safety.²⁴ Both companies provide mandatory instructional videos, free in-person classes, and field staff to proactively approach riders with safety reminders (the focus is on high-traffic areas during periods of heavy usage).

Accountability comes from educating users on the laws that apply to e-scooters and encouraging respectful riding on the streets of San Francisco. Bad behavior can be corrected through education and enforcement of the law.

Bad behavior by users is handled differently by the two companies:²⁵

- Scoot levies penalties for poor rider behavior including fees for parking citations and safety violations and service suspension for repeat violations. As of March 18, 2019, 80 riders have been given warnings for unsafe riding or parking, 12 have been fined \$300 each, and two were suspended;
- Skip has a user suspension policy in place, triggered only by a high degree of proof. Skip has not deactivated any user accounts (through March 2019) for Rider Code of Conduct violations.

User behavior is difficult to track and modify. User age minimums are challenging to enforce.

Injuries incurred by users of all ages are being documented in many cities across the United States where TNCs operate. An injury study at UCLA in 2018²⁶ indicated that only 4% of people injured in e-scooter accidents were wearing helmets at the time.

²⁵ Ibid, Appendix B.

SFCGJ2018-2019_PedestrianSafety-06.29

- 11 -

²² https://www.sfmta.com/maps/san-francisco-bike-network-map, accessed May 1, 2019.

²³ https://sfbike.org/resources/maps-routes/, accessed May 1, 2019

²⁴ <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2019/04/powered_scooter_share_mid-pilot_evaluation_appendices_final.pdf</u>, Appendix B, accessed May 4, 2019.

Helmets are essential components of injury prevention. Both TNCs advocate use of helmets, and both provide free helmets to users when requested. The Mid-Pilot Evaluation reported that 1,243 free helmets were distributed by Skip and 532 helmets by Scoot as of March 15, 2019.²⁷

Engineering

In support of San Francisco's Charter-based goal "...to create a transportation system that is among the best in the world...."²⁸, several major and separate City departments are tasked with planning, building, operating, and maintaining critical facilities:

- Department of Public Works (DPW) (<u>https://www.sfpublicworks.org/</u>) is responsible for
 - governance and oversight for cleaning and maintaining sidewalks, tree permits, placement, plant list, planting, and the 311 service center;
 - maintenance and repair of pipelines under City streets, street maintenance, resurfacing and pothole repair, and street cleaning;
 - oversight of public toilets on or near pedestrian plazas and sidewalks, recycling and refuse collection, sidewalk bike racks, and newsstands;
- SFMTA (<u>https://www.sfmta.com/</u>) oversees MUNI bus and streetcar routes, bus stops and shelters, bus lanes, bike routes, and protected/unprotected bike lanes;
- The Recreation and Parks Department (<u>https://sfrecpark.org/</u>) oversees usage of park roads for cars, bikes, and personal mobility devices;
- The San Francisco Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC) (<u>https://sfwater.org/index.aspx?page=410</u>) is responsible for installation and maintenance of streetlights and utility poles on sidewalks and streets.

In addition to these public service departments and agencies, private home and commercial building owners are responsible for sidewalk maintenance and repair in front of their properties.

Acknowledging these multiple departments in the context of delivering safe streets and sidewalks, the City Charter²⁹ states that:

Responsibility for transportation has been diffused throughout City government. Accordingly, this Article places within the Municipal Transportation Agency the powers and duties relating to transit now vested in other departments, boards, and commissions of the City and County. This Article further requires that, to the extent other City and County agencies provide services to the Municipal

²⁸ San Francisco Charter Article VIIIA, The Municipal Transportation Agency, Section 8.A.100 Preamble, <u>http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll/California/charter_sf/charter?f=templates\$fn=default.htm\$3.0\$vid=aml egal:sanfrancisco_ca\$anc=JD_Charter, accessed April 19, 2019.</u>

SFCGJ2018-2019_PedestrianSafety-06.29

²⁶ Trivedi, T.K. et al (2019). <u>Injuries associated with standing Electric Scooter Use</u>. *JAMA Network Open*. 2019;2(1):e187381. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.7381

²⁷ <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2019/04/powered_scooter_share_mid-pilot_evaluation_final.pdf</u>, footnote 11 on page 13.

²⁹ San Francisco Charter Article VIIIA, Section 8A.100- Preamble.

Transportation Agency, those departments must give the highest priority to the delivery of such services.

With the emergence of personal mobility devices, and in particular the shared-ride TNC services in certain zones of the City, multi-modal lanes for the increasing variety of mobility devices have become important infrastructure components for pedestrian and device rider safety. SFMTA looks at groupings of streets to designate safe lanes that emphasize somewhat separated flows for

public transit; private automobiles; bicycles, e-scooters, and other wheeled mobility devices; and pedestrians. The photograph in **Figure 4** illustrates how separated lanes can improve safety and flow for everyone. This image also implies how the various City departments must work together to implement such flow lanes:

- traffic control during construction and traffic flow changes post-construction;
- sidewalk tree plantings;
- changes in vehicle parking areas;
- private property owner sidewalk repairs (if needed) and private plantings;
- coordination to provide safe access to community resources such as schools and churches.



Figure 4 Protected Lanes on Valencia Street, April 25, 2019.

On May 8, 2019, "Bike to Work Day," Mayor London Breed announced that 20 new miles of protected bike lanes would be created over the next two years. In 2017-2018, the SFMTA built protected bike lanes at a pace of a little more than five miles per year. The pace would be doubled under the Mayor's plan.³⁰

In this same announcement, Brian Wiedenmeier, Executive Director of the San Francisco Bicycle Coalition, urged the City to speed up construction of protected bike lanes, which have barriers between where cars park and bikers ride. The barriers can be made of concrete or other suitable materials, including planters. "What we're focused on is physically protected and separated bike lanes throughout our City". "Paint and posts don't cut it anymore. If somebody can park somewhere, they will."

In May 2019, SFMTA released an evaluation of street safety improvements³¹ that showed the beneficial effects of improved infrastructure programs in the City. Of the bicyclists and pedestrians surveyed about the new arrangements on Folsom Street, 83% of bicyclists and 54%

³⁰ <u>https://www.kqed.org/news/11746183/san-francisco-to-get-20-new-miles-of-protected-bike-lanes-mayor-says-on-bike-to-work-day</u> accessed May14, 2019.

³¹ <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2019/05/vzsf_eval_report_final_1.pdf</u>, accessed May 14, 2019.

of pedestrians reported increased comfort after the completion of the projects. A 287% increase in bike counts on Turk Street occurred after a bike lane was installed.³²

These projects have helped to reduce traffic speeds, and reduced speeds reduce accidents and serious injuries. Following the installation of new bike lanes and speed bumps on Vicente Street, an 18% decrease in vehicle speeds was observed.

SFMTA has, and can marshal, the resources necessary to implement high-priority infrastructure improvements. For example, according to a San Francisco Bicycle Coalition website news article, "[i]n just six weeks, the SF Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA) built a brand new protected bike lane on Howard from Third to Sixth, including the blocks in front of Moscone Center."³³

As stated by a representative of WalkSF³⁴:

We can and should remind bike and scooter riders that they shouldn't be on the sidewalk, and until we create safe spaces for these to use, we're asking people on bikes and scooters to be as vulnerable as people walking and crossing the street.

While transportation modes will evolve, the overall widths of street and sidewalk combinations are fixed by private properties on either side of the combined lanes and cannot be widened without narrowing other lanes. Concerning transportation planning, any changes in lane widths represent a zero-sum game where, for example, adding a protected bike lane may remove a vehicle lane or parking spaces. Other traffic flow changes may be designed to shift lanes to parallel streets a block or more away.

As an example of shifting traffic lanes, **Figure 5** (next page) shows the SFMTA plan for modifying the Polk Street corridor to better accommodate pedestrian and bike traffic, while utilizing Van Ness Avenue for improved flow of transit buses and commercial and private vehicles.³⁵

More and more-varied personal mobility devices are becoming available, and are expected to shift near-future transportation choices away from private automobiles. San Francisco's transportation infrastructure must be maintained not only to ensure safety (e.g., pothole and sidewalk repairs), but also to accommodate shifting demands for increased lane width.

The City Charter makes SFMTA responsible for the management of all ground transportation in the City, including oversight of the Municipal Railway, other public transit, paratransit, taxis, traffic, parking, bicycling, and walking, in addition to use of the new personal mobility devices. SFMTA holds responsibility for many of the required steps for lane-width modification and lane

³² The actual number of bicyclists and pedestrians surveyed was not identified in the SFMTA summary report.

³³ San Francisco Bicycle Coalition web article May 3, 2019, at <u>https://sfbike.org/news/our-quickest-built-protected-bike-lane-yet/</u>, accessed May 8, 2019.

³⁴ Email correspondence with WalkSF representative, May 21, 2019.

³⁵ https://www.sfmta.com/blog/plans-polk-street-bike-lane-changed-raised-road-level, accessed May 6, 2019.

maintenance; however, the other departments listed at the beginning of this section must also participate and "give the highest priority to the delivery of such services."



Figure 5 SFMTA Polk Street Lane Improvements Plan

As stated by SFMTA in their report titled "Pedaling Forward – a Glance at the SFMTA's Bike Program for 2017-2021"³⁶:

Making streets safer for bicycling means making them safer for everyone. By configuring our streets to make people on bikes more visible, and everyone's behavior more predictable, better bikeways also reduce conflicts for people walking and driving.

SFMTA, however, does not explicitly direct e-scooters to use bike lanes where available. The current infrastructure, initially designed with only bikes in mind, can support the e-scooter arrivals.

A project underway in San Francisco, Better Market Street (BMS), is an example of innovative/integrative planning for the future of transit, streets and sidewalks in San Francisco. Through this project, 2.2 miles of Market Street between Octavia Boulevard and the Embarcadero will become safer and easier for people to walk, bicycle, and ride public transit.

³⁶ Pedaling Forward — a Glance at the SFMTA's Bike Program for 2017-2021, at <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-</u> documents/2018/04/pedaling forward booklet final web version.pdf, accessed May 8, 2019. Multiple City agencies are working together on this project with the goal to "revitalize and improve San Francisco's busiest pedestrian street, busiest bicycle thorough fare, and busiest transit corridor."³⁷

Some of the planning and engineering objectives include:³⁸

- **Pedestrian-related** improvements shortening intersection crossing distances and creating a minimum 15' wide pedestrian through-way everywhere;
- **Bicycling-related** improvements improving bike lanes and clearly marking pedestrian crossings; and
- **Transit-related** improvements upgrading the bus fleet with more low-floor buses and creating red transit-only lanes along the center of Market Street.

BMS may become a blueprint for future transportation projects in San Francisco.

Enforcement

Enforcement is a complex issue dependent upon laws and ordinances, resident and visitor awareness of them, and the availability and discretion of individuals certified to implement them.

The most recent set of regulations affecting SF sidewalk safety, California Assembly Bill AB-2989,³⁹ went into effect January 1, 2019. It includes requirements that motorized e-scooter operators:

- not operate a motorized scooter with any passengers in addition to the operator;
- not operate a motorized scooter carrying any package, bundle, or article that prevents the operator from keeping at least one hand on the handlebars;
- not operate a motorized scooter upon a sidewalk, except as may be necessary to enter or leave adjacent property;
- not leave a motorized scooter lying on its side on any sidewalk, or park a motorized scooter on a sidewalk in any other position, so that there is not an adequate path for pedestrian traffic.

Strict enforcement of this motorized e-scooter code could require additional police officers, especially in high-use corridors. Unfortunately, as stated at a July 25, 2018 hearing, San Francisco is understaffed in its traffic enforcement operations.⁴⁰

³⁷ <u>http://www.bettermarketstreetsf.org/</u>, accessed June 7, 2019.

³⁸ <u>http://www.bettermarketstreetsf.org/docs/BMS_Pedestrian_Realm_Focus_Group_Report_final_accessible.pdf/</u>, accessed June 7, 2019.

 ³⁹ <u>https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB2989</u>, accessed April 28, 2019.
A copy of AB 2989 is attached as Appendix D.

 ⁴⁰ <u>http://www.sfweekly.com/news/sfpd-traffic-department-woefully-understaffed/</u>, July 25, 2018, accessed April 28, 2019.

The Traffic Company was at allow or a control or 2018. At a press conterence in April 2019, Supervisor newer othered that reaching 80 officers in the Traffic Company could be possible in "two to three years". This number is acceled to adequately pairol the City Support from the Board of Supervisors will be needed to increase the number of officers in the Traffic Company.

In March 2019, using a grant funded by the California Office of Traffic Safety through the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, the SFPD deployed additional officers to areas identified as having significant numbers of vehicle collisions involving bicycle riders and pedestrians.⁴² These operations concentrated on the five moving violations associated with the greatest number of injuries: speeding, making illegal turns, failing to stop for stop signs and red lights, and failing to yield to pedestrians in crosswalks.

The "Focus on Five" does extend to enforcing moving violations by bicycles, e-scooters, or other personal mobility devices that occur on streets. As for violations occurring on sidewalks, a memo

dated May 18, 2017, from the SFMTA Sustainable Streets Department to the SFMTA Board of Directors stated that "[s]idewalk riding is not one of these top violations, however we pass along specific complaints as they are received."⁴³

Vision Zero's SF 2019 Action Strategy acknowledges that excessive vehicle speed is the most critical factor in predicting a traffic fatality.⁴⁴ Although not legal in California, Automated Speed-limit Enforcement is favored as an additional, effective tool to reduce excessive vehicle speeding. SFMTA details data and facts in support of Automated Speed Enforcement on its website.⁴⁵

"Focus on Five"

Five moving violations associated with the greatest number of injuries :

- Speeding
- Making illegal turns
- Failing to stop for stop signs
- Failing to stop for red lights
- Failing to yield to pedestrians in crosswalks

A five-year pilot program for automated speed enforcement in San Francisco and San Jose was proposed to the California legislature (AB 342) in 2017 but died in committee.⁴⁶ Such a

⁴¹ <u>https://www.sfexaminer.com/the-city/sfpd-adds-more-traffic-cops-to-their-ranks/</u> Accessed May 24, 2019.

⁴² <u>https://sanfranciscopolice.org/article/bicycle-and-pedestrian-safety-enforcement-operations-plan-san-francisco-ots-grant-19-025</u> viewed 4/25/2019

⁴³ Memorandum from SFMTA Sustainable Streets Department to SFMTA Board of Directors, May 18, 2017.

- ⁴⁴ Vision Zero Action Strategy- Eliminating Traffic Deaths in San Francisco, page 6, at <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2019/04/vzas_040419_web.pdf</u>, accessed May 1, 2019.
- ⁴⁵ https://www.sfmta.com/projects/automated-speed-enforcement, accessed April 25, 2019.
- ⁴⁶ https://www.laweekly.com/content/printView/8068863 accessed April 25, 2019.

proposal, even if passed, would be difficult to impossible to extend to monitoring sidewalk infractions. The Mayor's Executive Directive in 2019 to Expedite Traffic Safety Projects and Improvements commits to continued advocacy to implement Automated Speed Enforcement.⁴⁷

Injury/Death Data and e-scooters

Data collected on injuries and deaths of users and pedestrians from e-scooters or other electric mobility devices are just starting to become available.

Surgeons in the Emergency Department at ZSFG are also concerned about other alternative forms of transportation including electric bikes, mopeds, scooters, skateboards, hover boards, Segways, and even electric unicycles.

Nationally, between August 2018 and February 2019, four riders have been killed in e-scooter accidents.^{48, 49}

Medical professionals reported that helmets were rarely used. Part of the reason suggested for low helmet use is that riding a scooter is a decision "made in a flash". The American Medical Association (AMA) "encourages all Americans to adopt preventive measures to stay safe and healthy". For riders, such preventative measures include full protective gear such as certified helmets, elbow and kneepads and closed-toe shoes.⁵⁰

Researchers at UCLA examined data from two emergency departments UCLA Medical Center, Santa Monica and Ronald Reagan UCLA Medical Center from September 1, 2017 to August 31, 2018. The data indicated 249 people required medical care from scooter accidents, one-third arrived at the hospital in an ambulance, 40% had head injuries, and only 4% wore helmets.⁵¹ This research was published in JAMA Network Open on January 25, 2019 and is the first published study on injuries caused by e-scooters.

Approximately 80% of the injuries were caused by falls, 10% were caused by collisions with objects, and 9% were the result of being hit by a moving vehicle such as a car, bicycle, or another scooter.

⁵¹ http://newsroom.ucla.edu/releases/fractures-head-injuries-common-e-scooter-collisions, accessed May 2, 2019.

SFCGJ2018-2019 PedestrianSafety-06.29

⁴⁷ <u>https://sfmayor.org/article/mayor-london-breed-moves-forward-plans-expedite-traffic-safety-projects-and-improvements</u>, accessed May 10, 2019.

⁴⁸ <u>https://www.brainstain.us/2019/02/08/death-by-e-scooter-lime-and-bird-e-scooter-now-investigated-for-many-deaths/</u>, accessed May 2, 2019.

⁴⁹ <u>https://usa.streetsblog.org/2018/12/19/deep-dive-are-e-scooters-unsafe-at-any-speed/comment-page-1/</u>, accessed May 2, 2019.

⁵⁰ <u>https://www.consumerreports.org/product-safety/e-scooter-ride-share-industry-leaves-injuries-and-angered-cities-in-its-path/</u>, accessed May 2, 2019.

Other findings included:

- 92% (228) of injured people were riders;
- 8% (21) were pedestrians who were struck by a scooter or stumbled over a discarded one;
- 4% (10) wore a protective helmet while riding;
- 5% had a blood alcohol level over .05% or were perceived by physicians to be intoxicated;

Patient injuries were assigned into one of three categories:

- head injuries 40%;
- fractures 32%;
- cuts, sprains or bruises without a fracture or head injury 28%.

Fifteen people were admitted to the hospital, two of whom were treated in an intensive care unit.

The researchers observed e-scooter riders at various intersections in Los Angeles for a total of seven hours during September 2018. They documented 94% of the 193 people riding scooters were not wearing helmets.

In the Powered Scooter Share Mid-Pilot Evaluation prepared by SFMTA, injury and collision data were analyzed for the second half of 2018. The data included the unpermitted period from June 2018 through mid-October 2018 and the first 2.5 months of the Pilot (mid-October through December 2018). Injury data from the SFPD and ZSFG are not currently available for 2019.⁵²

The SFMTA Mid-Pilot Evaluation presented the following key findings:

- ZSFG treated nine people for traumatic injuries; four were injured in crashes with motor vehicles; only two reported wearing a helmet at the time of the injury; and one person was struck and injured by an e-scooter while walking;
- Of the nine people injured, six were admitted to the hospital with head injuries and three of the six were critically injured. Four of the nine injuries occurred in May 2018 prior to the Pilot program activation;
- SFPD reported 32 injuries involving e-scooters in which 4 involved injured pedestrians and 6 resulted in serious trauma;
- All data sources documented low helmet use by e-scooter riders.

ZSFG tracks traumatic injuries that are associated with various non-traditional vehicle types – including e-scooters. ZSFG is the only Trauma Center in the City and County of San Francisco, and as such treats most patients who sustain traumatic injuries in San Francisco.

⁵² Vision Zero SF Injury Prevention Research Collaborative. 2019 E-Scooter Collision and Injury Analysis. San Francisco, CA <u>https://www.sfdph.org/dph/files/EHSdocs/PHES/VisionZero/E-Scooter_Collision_Injury_2019.pdf</u>, accessed May 2, 2019.

SFCGJ2018-2019_PedestrianSafety-06.29

The causes of e-scooter injuries:

- four from e-scooter collision with a motor vehicle (44% of all cases);
- three from a fall from the e-scooter (33% of all cases);
- one from an e-scooter collision with a stationary object (11% of all cases);
- one pedestrian injured in collision with an e-scooter (11% of all cases).

SFPD data encompass 31 collision reports during 2018. Among the 32 injured parties:

- six severe injuries (19%);
- 12 Other visible injuries (37%);
- 14 complaint of pain (44%).

Permittees Scoot and Skip submit monthly tracking data to the SFMTA and include information on collisions reported by users to the SFMTA. Scoot reported zero collisions. Skip reported 34 collisions over a five-month period between mid-October 2018 and mid-February 2019. Of those collisions, 18 resulted in injury of which 3 were serious.

SFMTA and SFDPH reviewed the injury date from the study and made the following recommendations:

- increase access to helmets to reduce serious head injury;
- provide additional information to e-scooter users on where it is legal to ride;
- monitor youth riders of e-scooters;
- continue with data analysis to assess opportunities for infrastructure improvements.

Even with the change in California law regarding helmet usage by e-scooter riders as of January 1, 2019,⁵³ the SFDPH and SFMTA continue to encourage the use of helmets for powered scooter riders. Helmets provide critical protection that, when worn, can help reduce the severe injuries noted above. Due to the number of severe "life changing" injuries that have already occurred, wearing protective helmets is imperative.

Liability Issues and e-scooter-Related Agreements

There are four key parties actively involved in the Pilot program:

- 1. The City (SFMTA) as Permittor;
- 2. The User of the device and related services (i.e., the App);
- 3. TNCs Scoot and Skip, respectively, as Permittees; and
- 4. The Contractors that inspect, maintain, recharge, and re-distribute the devices on behalf of the TNC.

Legal agreements bind respective parties to assigned liabilities and indemnifications of liabilities. Figure 6 (next page) illustrates how the individual agreements bind parties. This report section

 ⁵³ Assembly Bill No. 2989 Chapter 552, amendment to CA Vehicle Code Section 21235, <u>http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB2989</u>, accessed June 2, 2019.

discusses the key terms of the various agreements. APPENDIX F presents specific Agreement terms to support this discussion.



The purpose of these document reviews was to determine who was responsible for the following important obligations:

- 1. Care and Safety of the e-scooter;
- 2. Safety of the User;
- 3. Care and Use of City/County property;
- 4. Safety of pedestrians and/or other vehicle users;
- 5. Care of the TNC worker as an Independent Contractor.

1. Care and Safety of the e-scooter

As with other shared devices such as rental cars, sports equipment (e.g., snow skis and boots), and hotel rooms, the responsibility for care of the device during use falls to the User. In addition, it is typically the responsibility of the User to conduct a minimal inspection of the shared device prior to its first use by the User. For example, the Renter visually inspects the rental car; the sports equipment is visually inspected for any apparent damage; the hotel room is inspected for cleanliness. At the same time, however, unseen conditions may affect the safety of the rented device such as functioning brakes on the rental car and the condition of bindings on skis.

These examples of rental devices differ from the TNC scooter rentals in one significant way: The device is inspected (or has the opportunity to be inspected) by the rental company prior to the next User rental.

Due to the inherent design of the service, shared e-scooters are not inspected by the TNC between uses. The TNC User Agreements address this condition by placing all responsibility for determining "fitness for a particular purpose" ⁵⁴ on the User. The User, by use of the TNC App and the TNC e-scooter, agrees the e-scooters "... are provided on an 'as is" basis... ⁵⁵, "... without representations or warranties of any kind...." ⁵⁶ The User is "... responsible for inspecting a Scooter and any related materials ... such as helmets, locks, etc. to ensure that they are in good working condition prior to using them." ⁵⁷

So when are e-scooters inspected by – or for – the TNCs?

Skip utilizes independent contractors, called "Rangers", to retrieve e-scooters each evening and prepare the e-scooters for re-deployment the following morning. Such preparations include recharging e-scooter batteries and conducting a visual inspection. The Ranger is required to

"...perform a visual inspection (and other agreed upon services) of the Scooter prior to returning it to an authorized Scooter location or to Skip and notify Skip immediately if the Scooter requires maintenance or repairs." ⁵⁸

Note that the primary functions of the Rangers are to retrieve, recharge, and re-distribute the escooters. No evidence of Ranger technical or inspection experience is required within the Skip Charger Agreement.

Scoot utilizes company employees to conduct their recharging, maintenance and inspection services.

2. Safety of the User

User behavior is difficult at best to track and modify. User age minimums are challenging to enforce, and injuries incurred by users of all ages are being documented in many cities across the U.S. where TNCs operate.

The TNCs participating in the Pilot (Skip and Scoot) provide free helmets when requested by users.

⁵⁸ Skip Charger Agreement dated 9/18/2018, Section 4. Assumption of Risk, at <u>https://skipscooters.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/SkipChargerAgreement 9 18 2018 .html</u>, accessed April 2, 2019.

⁵⁴ Scoot Terms of Service Section 11, Disclaimers at <u>https://scoot.co/legal/united-states/terms-of-service/</u>, accessed March 15, 2019.

⁵⁵ Skip Terms of Service Section 9, Rental and Permissible Use of Scooters at <u>https://skipscooters.com/terms_of_service.html</u>, accessed March 15, 2019.

⁵⁶ Scoot Terms of Service Section 11, Disclaimers at <u>https://scoot.co/legal/united-states/terms-of-service/</u>, accessed March 15, 2019.

⁵⁷ Skip Terms of Service Section 9, Rental and Permissible Use of Scooters at <u>https://skipscooters.com/terms_of_service.html</u>, accessed March 15, 2019.

According to the SFMTA Mid-Point Pilot Evaluation report, 1,243 free helmets were distributed by Skip and 532 helmets were distributed by Scoot as of March 15, 2019. Skip indicated they distributed helmets by mail and at in-person events including Sunday Streets, block parties, street fairs, farmer's markets, and "pop-up" booths staffed by Skip "Scouts". These Scouts "... rove high traffic areas during periods of heavy usage to warn and remind users that sidewalk riding is strictly prohibited and to carry a supply of helmets to riders who want them." Scoot also distributes free helmets by mail and at in-person events. Scoot provides two places on their app and one on their website where users can order a free helmet.⁵⁹

3. Care and Use of City/County property

Modifying e-scooters to include lock cables has reduced the number of casually dropped escooter along sidewalks, as well as the City's installation of more bike racks that have been used by e-scooter users as well as by bicyclists.

Skip has committed, "... over the next two (2) years to invest \$500,000 in the creation of calmed shared streets and protected bike and e-scooter lanes across San Francisco." ⁶⁰ These "verifiable donations" will be made to local advocacy groups as well as to specific capital projects. (The SFCGJ has not been able to verify a similar funding commitment on behalf of Scoot.)

Both Pilot program agreements between the TNCs and SFMTA include a non-committal section regarding Possessory Interests and possible means for the TNCs to more formally contribute to the City's operational and infrastructure expenses.⁶¹ The specific language is presented below:

7. Possessory Interest.

Permittee acknowledges that this Permit may create a "possessory interest" for property tax purposes. Generally, a possessory interest is created if the Permit entitles the Permittee to possession, occupancy, or use of City property for private gain or benefit. If such a possessory interest is created, then:

... D. Permittee further agrees to provide such other information as may be requested by the City to enable the City to comply with any reporting requirements for possessory interests that are imposed by applicable law.

While this permit condition currently includes no mandatory funding obligation, it appears to leave open the opportunity for SFMTA to require specific financial compensation for the TNCs' ongoing use of public facilities such as bike lanes, bicycle lock racks, and sidewalks.

⁵⁹ <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2019/04/powered_scooter_share_mid-pilot_evaluation_appendices_final.pdf</u>, Appendix C – 3 Month Compliance Reports, p. 24 of 56.

⁶⁰ Skip Application Proposal, page 16.

⁶¹ Skip and Scoot final Terms and Conditions, Section 7., at <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2018/10/scoot_permit_final_10.12.18.pdf</u> and <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2018/10/skip_permit_final_10.12.18.pdf</u>

4. Safety of Pedestrians and/or other Vehicle Users

Other than providing helmets to users and providing e-scooters that comply with California Vehicle Code requirements for device lighting and operation restrictions, the TNCs understandably have little to no control over the behavior of a User when operating the e-scooter. As with other motorized or non-motorized devices (i.e., bicycles, cars, motorcycles, skateboards), individuals involved in an accident are expected to have their own insurance coverage for liability and third party damage.

If, for example, a User is injured in an accident while operating a TNC e-scooter and injures or damages another person or property, the User Agreement (accepted by the User upon activation of the shared e-scooter App) requires the User to indemnify the TNC from all third party claims for such damage or injury.⁶²

The User Agreements continue, with language that explicitly limits the TNC's liability in any accident, injury, or damage. The Skip Terms of Service with the User include an affirmation stating:

"You acknowledge and agree that, to the maximum extent permitted by law, the entire risk arising out of your access to and use of the Skip services or anything that relates to or concerns your use of a scooter or the Skip services, remains with you." ⁶³

Scoot limits its liability by stating:

"In no event shall Scoot Networks or its licensors or suppliers be liable in the aggregate for any damages incurred by you [the User] that exceed the greater of (A) One Hundred Dollars or (B) The amount of fees you have paid Scoot Networks in the 12 months prior to the Action giving rise to the liability." ⁶⁴

Therefore, if a person is injured in an accident involving a TNC e-scooter User, the injured party can seek compensatory damages from the actual User, subject to the User's own liability insurance coverages. The TNCs are attempting to limit their liability through the above Agreement clauses and place the liability for damages on the User.

⁶² Skip Terms of Service, Section 12.5, at <u>https://skipscooters.com/terms_of_service.html</u>, accessed March 15, 2019, and Scoot Terms of Service Section 10, at <u>https://scoot.co/legal/united-states/terms-of-service/</u>, accessed March 15, 2019.

⁶³ Skip Terms of Service, Section 12.2, at <u>https://skipscooters.com/terms_of_service.html</u>, accessed March 15, 2019.

⁶⁴ Scoot Terms of Service, Section 12, at <u>https://scoot.co/legal/united-states/terms-of-service/</u>, accessed March 15, 2019.

The injured party could pursue compensatory damages from the City, however the permit terms between SFMTA (the City) and the TNCs require the TNCs to indemnify the City (and the Port of San Francisco) against

"... any and all ... claims thereof for injury to or death of a person... arising directly or indirectly from ... claims brought by customers [Users] of Permittee, regardless of the negligence of, and regardless of whether liability without fault is imposed...."⁶⁵

5. Care of the TNC worker as an Independent Contractor

Skip encourages individuals to work for Skip as independent contractors, called "Rangers", to retrieve and recharge e-scooters (See "Care and Safety of the e-scooter" discussion above.) This work is a critical component of the overall shared device service that relies on appropriate residential electrical charging capability, adequate carrying capacity in a private van or other vehicle, and reliable availability to conduct the work. Similar to how Lyft and Uber ride services rely on private vehicles (with hopefully appropriate insurance coverages for such use), these "Rangers" are to use their own vehicle (with hopefully appropriate insurance coverages for such use).

The TNC, by outsourcing this critical recharging service, avoids capital expenditures to install and provide electric power and pushes the responsibility for safe charging to the contractor. Specifically, the Skip Charger Agreement requires the Ranger to:

"... remain responsible for (or assume the risk of not) having a certified expert review and approve your location for safely charging Skip Scooters prior to charging a Scooter, not overloading any electrical equipment while charging a Scooter, providing reasonable spacing and ventilation of Scooters while charging to prevent overheating of the Scooters and Bricks, and for procuring at your sole expense any insurance required under applicable law or private agreements...."⁶⁶

The City permit with the TNCs requires the TNCs to have any and all independent contractors (subcontractors) provide "all necessary insurance and to name the City and County of San Francisco, the Port of San Francisco... as additional insureds." ⁶⁷ As of this writing, the Jury has seen no evidence that the TNCs have complied with this requirement regarding naming the City as an additional insured on subcontractor agreements. A TNC representative interviewed by the SFCGJ acknowledged that subcontractor insurance coverages are not checked and therefore the TNC is out of compliance with this specific Permit requirement.⁶⁸

SFCGJ2018-2019_PedestrianSafety-06.29

⁶⁵ TNC Permit with San Francisco, General Requirements Section 1.5, at <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2018/10/scoot_permit_final_10.12.18.pdf</u> and <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2018/10/skip_permit_final_10.12.18.pdf</u>.

⁶⁶ Skip Charger Agreement dated 9/18/2018, Section 4, Assumption of Risk, at <u>https://skipscooters.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/SkipChargerAgreement 9 18 2018 .html</u>

⁶⁷ TNC Permit with San Francisco, Section 1.6 Insurance Requirements.

⁶⁸ Interview with TNC representative April 17, 2019.

SF Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee (PSAC)

The Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee (PSAC) has a potentially important role to play regarding pedestrian safety, but has failed to properly discharge its responsibilities and is of questionable viability. Established by San Francisco Charter, Administrative Code, Chapter 5, Article IV,⁶⁹ the Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee (PSAC) was formed and given an ambitious agenda touching on policy and planning issues related to pedestrian safety. PSAC consists of a 17-member committee, and at its request, an additional eight non-voting representatives from City departments. PSAC is composed of informed residents who are responsible for issues concerning pedestrian safety, convenience, ambiance, and planning.

PSAC's stated mission is to:

- Serve as a liaison between the public, the Board of Supervisors, and agencies working on pedestrian-related projects;
- Make recommendations about projects or policies that directly or indirectly impact pedestrian safety to the Board of Supervisors and relevant agencies;
- Keep public safety as the top priority;
- Make recommendations to improve the ambiance of the environment and convenience to enhance walking as part of the transportation system.

In addition, they are required to report to the Board of Supervisors on an annual basis, with quarterly appearances before the Board, as needed. Their annual reports are to include pedestrian injury and fatality statistics and an analysis of the causes that would lead to recommendations for changes in policies, funding, and enforcement.⁷⁰

However, the most recent annual report to the Board of Supervisors was submitted in 2011.⁷¹

SFCGJ members attended three monthly PSAC meetings, reviewed past meeting minutes from 2017 and 2018 posted on their website, and the one annual report from 2011, and noted the following:

- As of June 7, 2019, 3 of the 17 seats are vacant;
- In 2018, only 4 meetings had a verified quorum, 5 meetings did not, 1 was cancelled, and 2 had no minutes to verify if any meeting had taken place;

⁶⁹ San Francisco Charter, Administrative Code, Chapter 5 Committees, Article IV Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee, accessed May 16, 2019 at <u>http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll/California/administrative/administrativecode?f=templates\$fn=default.h</u> <u>tm\$3.0\$vid=amlegal:sanfrancisco_ca\$sync=1</u>

⁷⁰ Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee. SFMTA web site

⁷¹ http://archives.sfmta.com/cms/cpdsafe/documents/2011PSACReportFINAL.pdf
• In 2017, only 8 meetings were scheduled and 7 of the 8 had no minutes to verify if meetings had a quorum in attendance or even met.

The SFCGJ questions the viability of the PSAC to support the mission and objectives set forth when this committee was first created. We are particularly concerned that annual reports have not been prepared since 2011, along with the chronic vacancies and absences.

FINDINGS

- F1. The Pilot permittees advocate for safe behavior education for riders through community events and their web sites. However, SFMTA has not provided its own concurrent, updated safety awareness campaign.
- F2. The successful expansion of marked and protected bike lanes represents an opportunity to include signage indicating bike lanes are also for use by e-scooter riders. There is no signage currently indicating where e-scooters should ride, and insufficient signage to discourage riding on sidewalks.
- F3. SF Traffic Company enforcement efforts are currently limited to street vehicular traffic and do not include enforcement of moving violations occurring on sidewalks.
- F4. Injury data collected to-date by Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital (ZSFG), SF Department of Public Health (SFDPH), SF Police Department (SFPD), and Pilot permittees categorize types of injuries but not root causes such as damaged infrastructure (potholes or poorly marked lanes), education (inadequate safety and device training), or reckless use (speeding, distracted driving, and/or using sidewalks).
- F5. The Pilot terms between the City and permittees require them to indemnify the City from injury and damage claims. However, Scoot and Skip Terms of Service put responsibility for injury, damage, and equipment inspection on the User.
- F6. Current terms and conditions in the Skip agreement expose a contractual gap that delegates initial responsibility for scooter inspection and maintenance to their independent contractors, Skip Rangers, who receive no specific training from Skip. Scoot, however, hires and trains its employees to provide the inspection and maintenance services.
- F7. A key obligation of the Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee (PSAC) is to prepare and submit annual reports to the Board of Supervisors (BOS). These reports are to include pedestrian injury and fatality statistics and root cause analysis, to recommend changes in policies, funding and enforcement. PSAC has not prepared or submitted an annual report since 2011.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- R1. SFMTA in coordination with Vision Zero SF should design a public safety campaign regarding e-scooter use, laws, safety and helmet use. This campaign should include TNC participation and utilize various means of outreach including ads on MUNI trains, buses, shelters, social media, and TNC apps no later than June 30, 2020.
- R2. Signage, stencils, visual symbols illustrating e-scooters, and/or other messaging should be provided to remind mobility device riders that these lanes are available for them to use. Further, additional visual symbols should be added on sidewalks and High-Injury Networks to discourage sidewalk use by e-scooters. The visual design(s) should be developed and implemented by SFMTA no later than June 30, 2020.
- R3. SFPD Traffic Company should implement one or more "Focus on Five" enforcement campaigns that target moving violations by motor vehicles as well as bicycles and powered mobility devices in all traffic lanes, with documented results no later than June 30, 2020.
- R4. ZSFG, SFDPH, SFPD, and TNCs should collectively improve injury data reporting to better support root cause analyses. SFMTA and the SFDPH should develop and oversee the revised data collection efforts and prepare a data acquisition plan for review by the above referenced organizations no later than June 30, 2020.
- R5. SFMTA, City Attorney, and TNCs should review and if necessary modify the City-Permittee agreement, the TNC-User agreement, and any other related agreements to assure that responsibility for risk management is allocated to the party/parties best able to manage such risks. This review and potential modification of terms across all agreements should be initiated prior to the end of the existing Pilot. Any necessary revisions should be incorporated and implemented in all agreements for the replacement program to follow at the conclusion of the Pilot.
- R6. The Board of Supervisors should allow the Public Safety Advisory Committee to terminate on October 1, 2019 as designated in the San Francisco Municipal Code.

SFCGJ2018-2019 PedestrianSafety-06.29

REQUIRED RESPONSES

Pursuant to Penal Code sections 933 and 933.05, the Civil Grand Jury requests responses as follows:

From the following City and County agencies and departments within 60 days:

- Office of the Mayor
 - o Findings 1,2,3,4,5,6
 - o Recommendations 1,2,3,4,5
- Office of the City Attorney
 - o Findings 5,6
 - o Recommendations 5
- Chief of Police, San Francisco Police Department
 - o Findings 3,4
 - Recommendations 3,4
- Director of Transportation, San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency
 - o Findings 1,2, 4,5,6
 - o Recommendations 1,2,4,5
- Director of Health, San Francisco Department of Public Health
 - o Findings 4
 - Recommendations 4

From the Board of Supervisors and other governing bodies within 90 days:

- o Findings 7
- Recommendations 6

GLOSSARY

,

DPW	Department of Public Works
e-scooters	General term used in this report to identify any and all motorized personal mobility
	devices.
PSAC	San Francisco Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee
SFCGJ	San Francisco Civil Grand Jury
SFCTA	San Francisco County Transportation Authority
SFDPH	San Francisco Department of Public Health
SFMTA	San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency
SFPD	San Francisco Police Department
SFPUC	San Francisco Public Utilities Commission
TNC	Transportation Network Company
UCLA	University of California - Los Angeles
ZSFG	Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

TABLE OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Findings	Recommendations
F1.	R1.
The Pilot permittees advocate for safe behavior education for riders through community events and their web sites. However, SFMTA has not provided its own concurrent, updated safety awareness campaign.	SFMTA in coordination with Vision Zero SF should design a public safety campaign regarding e-scooter use, laws, safety and helmet use. This campaign should include TNC participation and utilize various means of outreach including ads on MUNI trains, buses, shelters, social media, and TNC apps no later than June 30, 2020.
F2.	R2.
The successful expansion of marked and protected bike lanes represents an opportunity to include signage indicating bike lanes are also for use by e-scooter riders. There is no signage currently indicating where e-scooters <i>should</i> ride, and insufficient signage to discourage riding on sidewalks.	Signage, stencils, visual symbols illustrating e- scooters, and/or other messaging should be provided to remind mobility device riders that these lanes are available for them to use. Further, additional visual symbols should be added on sidewalks and High-Injury Networks to discourage sidewalk use by e-scooters. The visual design(s) should be developed and implemented by SFMTA no later than June 30, 2020.
F3.	R3.
SF Traffic Company enforcement efforts are currently limited to street vehicular traffic and do not include enforcement of moving violations occurring on sidewalks.	SFPD Traffic Company should implement one or more "Focus on Five" enforcement campaigns that target moving violations by motor vehicles as well as bicycles and powered mobility devices in all traffic lanes, with documented results no later than June 30, 2020.

APPENDIX A

TABLE OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Findings	Recommendations
F4. Injury data collected to-date by Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital (ZSFG), SF Department of Public Health (SFDPH), SF Police Department (SFPD), and Pilot permittees categorize types of injuries but not root causes such as damaged infrastructure (potholes or poorly marked lanes), education (inadequate safety and device training), or reckless use (speeding, distracted driving, and/or using sidewalks).	R4. ZSFG, SFDPH, SFPD, and TNCs should collectively improve injury data reporting to better support root cause analyses. SFMTA and the SFDPH should develop and oversee the revised data collection efforts and prepare a data acquisition plan for review by the above referenced organizations no later than June 30, 2020.
 F5. F5. The Pilot terms between the City and permittees require them to indemnify the City from injury and damage claims. However, Scoot and Skip Terms of Service put responsibility for injury, damage, and equipment inspection on the User. F6. Current terms and conditions in the Skip agreement expose a contractual gap that delegates initial responsibility for scooter inspection and maintenance to their independent contractors, Skip Rangers, who receive no specific training from Skip. Scoot, however, hires and trains its employees to provide the inspection and maintenance services. 	R5. SFMTA, City Attorney, and TNCs should review all related agreements to assure responsibility for risk management is allocated to the party/parties best able to manage such risks. This review and modification of terms across all agreements should be initiated prior to the end of the existing Pilot. These revisions should be incorporated and implemented in all agreements for the replacement program to follow at the conclusion of the Pilot.

APPENDIX A

TABLE OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Findings	Recommendations
F7.	R6.
A key obligation of the Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee (PSAC) is to prepare and submit annual reports to the Board of Supervisors (BOS). These reports are to include pedestrian injury and fatality statistics and root cause analysis, to recommend changes in policies, funding and enforcement. PSAC has not prepared or submitted an annual report since 2011.	The Board of Supervisors should allow the Public Safety Advisory Committee to terminate on October 1, 2019 as designated in the San Francisco Municipal Code.

APPENDIX B

TABLE OF FINDINGS WITH REQUIRED RESPONSES

Findings	Required Responses
F1. The Pilot permittees advocate for safe behavior education for riders through community events and their web sites. However, SFMTA has not provided its own concurrent, updated safety awareness campaign.	 Office of the Mayor Director of Transportation, SF Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA)
F2. The successful expansion of marked and protected bike lanes represents an opportunity to include signage indicating bike lanes are also for use by e-scooter riders. There is no signage currently indicating where e-scooters <i>should</i> ride, and insufficient signage to discourage riding on sidewalks.	 Office of the Mayor Director of Transportation, SFMTA
F3. SF Traffic Company enforcement efforts are currently limited to street vehicular traffic and do not include enforcement of moving violations occurring on sidewalks.	 Office of the Mayor Chief of Police, SF Police Department
F4. Injury data collected to-date by Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital (ZSFG), SF Department of Public Health (SFDPH), SF Police Department (SFPD), and Pilot permittees categorize types of injuries but not root causes such as damaged infrastructure (potholes or poorly marked lanes), education (inadequate safety and device training), or reckless use (speeding, distracted driving, and/or using sidewalks).	 Office of the Mayor Chief of Police, SF Police Department Director of Transportation, SFMTA Director of Health, SF Department of Public Health
F5. The Pilot terms between the City and permittees require them to indemnify the City from injury and damage claims. However, Scoot and Skip Terms of Service put responsibility for injury, damage, and equipment inspection on the User.	 Office of the Mayor Office of the City Attorney Director of Transportation, SFMTA

APPENDIX B

TABLE OF FINDINGS WITH REQUIRED RESPONSES

Findings	Required Responses
F6. Current terms and conditions in the Skip agreement expose a contractual gap that delegates initial responsibility for scooter inspection and maintenance to their independent contractors, Skip Rangers, who receive no specific training from Skip. Scoot, however, hires and trains its employees to provide the inspection and maintenance services.	 Office of the Mayor Office of the City Attorney Director of Transportation, SFMTA
F7. A key obligation of the Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee (PSAC) is to prepare and submit annual reports to the Board of Supervisors (BOS). These reports are to include pedestrian injury and fatality statistics and root cause analysis, to recommend changes in policies, funding and enforcement. PSAC has not prepared or submitted an annual report since 2011.	• Board of Supervisors

APPENDIX C

TABLE OF RECOMMENDATIONS WITH REQUIRED RESPONSES

Recommendations	Required Responses
R1. SFMTA in coordination with Vision Zero SF should design a public safety campaign regarding e-scooter use, laws, safety and helmet use. This campaign should include TNC participation and utilize various means of outreach including ads on MUNI trains, buses, shelters, social media, and TNC apps no later than June 30, 2020.	 Office of the Mayor Director of Transportation, SFMTA
R2. Signage, stencils, visual symbols illustrating e-scooters, and/or other messaging should be provided to remind mobility device riders that these lanes are available for them to use. Further, additional visual symbols should be added on sidewalks and High-Injury Networks to discourage sidewalk use by e-scooters. The visual design(s) should be developed and implemented by SFMTA no later than June 30, 2020. R3.	 Office of the Mayor Director of Transportation, SFMTA
K3. SFPD Traffic Company should implement one or more "Focus on Five" enforcement campaigns that target moving violations by motor vehicles as well as bicycles and powered mobility devices in all traffic lanes, with documented results no later than June 30, 2020.	 Office of the Mayor Chief of Police, SF Police Department
R4. ZSFG, SFDPH, SFPD, and TNCs should collectively improve injury data reporting to better support root cause analyses. SFMTA and the SFDPH should develop and oversee the revised data collection efforts and prepare a data acquisition plan for review by the above referenced organizations no later than June 30, 2020.	 Office of the Mayor Chief of Police, SF Police Department Director of Transportation, SFMTA Director of Health, SF Department of Public Health

APPENDIX C

TABLE OF RECOMMENDATIONS WITH REQUIRED RESPONSES

Recommendations	Required Responses				
R5. SFMTA, City Attorney, and TNCs should review all related agreements to assure responsibility for risk management is allocated to the party/parties best able to manage such risks. This review and modification of terms across all agreements should be initiated prior to the end of the existing Pilot. These revisions should be incorporated and implemented in all agreements for the replacement program to follow at the conclusion of the Pilot.	 Office of the Mayor Office of the City Attorney Director of Transportation, SFMTA 				
R6. The Board of Supervisors should allow the Public Safety Advisory Committee to terminate on October 1, 2019 as designated in the San Francisco Municipal Code.	 Board of Supervisors 				

.

APPENDIX D

Assembly Bill AB2989: Motorized scooter: Use of helmet: maximum speed.

Chapter 552

An act to amend Section 21235 of the Vehicle Code, relating to vehicles.

[Approved by Governor September 19, 2018. Filed with Secretary of State September 19, 2018.]

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 2989, Flora. Motorized scooter: use of helmet: maximum speed.

Existing law generally prescribes the operation of a motorized scooter, defined as 2-wheeled device that has handlebars, has a floorboard that is designed to be stood upon when riding, and is powered by an electric motor or by a source other than electric power. Existing law requires a driver's license or permit to operate a motorized scooter. Existing law prohibits the operation of a motorized scooter on a highway with a speed limit in excess of 25 miles per hour unless the motorized scooter is operated within a Class II bike lane. Existing law prohibits an operator of a motorized scooter from operating the motorized scooter without wearing a properly fitted and fastened helmet meeting specified standards. Existing law prohibits a person from operating a motorized scooter at a speed in excess of 15 miles per hour. A violation of prescriptions or prohibitions regarding motorized scooters is a crime.

This bill would permit a local authority to authorize the operation of a motorized scooter on a highway with a speed limit of up to 35 miles per hour and would additionally allow for operation of a motorized scooter on a highway with a higher speed limit if the motorized scooter is operated within a Class IV bikeway. The bill would specify that the existing maximum 15 mile per hour speed limit for the operation of a motorized scooter applies regardless of a higher speed limit applicable to the highway. The bill would require the operator of a motorized scooter to wear a helmet only if the operator is under 18 years of age.

Digest Key

Vote: MAJORITY Appropriation: NO Fiscal Committee: NO Local Program: NO

Bill Text

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1.

Section 21235 of the Vehicle Code is amended to read:

21235.

The operator of a motorized scooter shall not do any of the following:

(a) Operate a motorized scooter unless it is equipped with a brake that will enable the operator to make a braked wheel skid on dry, level, clean pavement.

SFCGJ2018-2019_PedestrianSafety-06.29

(b) Operate a motorized scooter on a highway with a speed limit in excess of 25 miles per hour unless the motorized scooter is operated within a Class II or Class IV bikeway, except that a local authority may, by ordinance or resolution, authorize the operation of a motorized scooter outside of a Class II or Class IV bikeway on a highway with a speed limit of up to 35 miles per hour. The 15 mile per hour maximum speed limit for the operation of a motorized scooter specified in Section 22411 applies to the operation of a motorized scooter on all highways, including bikeways, regardless of a higher speed limit applicable to the highway.

(c) Operate a motorized scooter without wearing a properly fitted and fastened bicycle helmet that meets the standards described in Section 21212, if the operator is under 18 years of age.

(d) Operate a motorized scooter without a valid driver's license or instruction permit.

(e) Operate a motorized scooter with any passengers in addition to the operator.

(f) Operate a motorized scooter carrying any package, bundle, or article that prevents the operator from keeping at least one hand upon the handlebars.

(g) Operate a motorized scooter upon a sidewalk, except as may be necessary to enter or leave adjacent property.

(h) Operate a motorized scooter on the highway with the handlebars raised so that the operator must elevate his or her hands above the level of his or her shoulders in order to grasp the normal steering grip area.

(i) Leave a motorized scooter lying on its side on any sidewalk, or park a motorized scooter on a sidewalk in any other position, so that there is not an adequate path for pedestrian traffic.

(j) Attach the motorized scooter to him or herself while on the roadway, by any means, to any other vehicle on the roadway.

APPENDIX E

E-scooter-Related Injury Data

Injury Data from States outside of California

Consumer Reports (CR) found in an investigation that 1,500 people across the United States was injured in an e-scooter-related crash since late 2017. In their investigation, CR contacted 110 hospitals and five agencies in 47 cities where at least one or two of the largest scooter companies, Bird or Lime operate.⁷²

CR wanted to determine:

- how many patients were treated for scooter-related injuries;
- the capability of the hospital to track injuries.

A sample of their findings:

- The Emergency Department Chief at Grady Memorial Hospital in Atlanta estimated that the Emergency room had treated 360 people with injuries;
- The Medical Director of the Trauma Intensive Care Unit at Vanderbilt Hospital in Nashville has seen 250 people with injuries;
- "We've had multiple concussions, nasal fractures, bilateral forearm fractures and some people have required surgery", said Beth Rupp, M.D., Indiana University Heath Center in Bloomington, Indiana.

CR received a response from 60 medical facilities and other entities as of January 31, 2019. Of those responses:

- 23 including one police department, a City transportation department, a City emergency medical services provider, and a smaller medical clinic reported 1545 patients for scooter-involved injures over the past year;
- the other 37 or 62% said they do not track scooter injuries, lack the capability entirely, or had no reports of injuries on file.

Many of the medical professionals that CR spoke to mentioned that the total number of injuries is "unquestionably higher" than reported because so many hospitals don't have the medical record capability needed to accurately track specific scooter-related injuries.

Dr. Christopher Ziebell, ER Department at Dell Seton Medical Center at the University of Texas, Austin, said "all of our datasets are incomplete". His staff has counted 53 injuries from e-scooters since they arrived in Austin last May. 16 were head injuries equaling 30% of the total. "If you hit the ground at 20 mph (on a scooter) or a baseball bat hit your head at 20 mph, that's about the same thing", stated Dr. Christopher Ziebell.⁷³

SFCGJ2018-2019 PedestrianSafety-06.29

⁷² <u>https://www.consumerreports.org/product-safety/e-scooter-ride-share-industry-leaves-injuries-and-angered-citiesin-its-path/</u>, accessed February 5, 2019.

⁷³ <u>https://www.cnet.com/news/electric-scooters-by-bird-and-lime-are-causing-injuries-and-accidents/</u>, posted November 28, 2018, accessed May 3, 2019.

APPENDIX F

Liability Issues and e-scooter-Related Agreements

There are four key parties actively involved in the shared personal mobility device Pilot program:

- 1. the City as Permittor;
- 2. The User of the device and related services (i.e., the App User);
- 3. The Transportation Network Companies (TNCs Scoot and Skip, respectively) as Permittees; and
- 4. The Workers that inspect, maintain, recharge, and re-distribute the devices on behalf of the permittee.

Legal agreements bind respective parties to assigned liabilities and indemnifications of liabilities. The Figure below illustrates how the individual agreements bind parties. This Appendix presents specific text and sections that highlight key terms of the various agreements.



Indemnification

The permit terms between San Francisco and the two permittees require the permittees to indemnify the City and Port against "...any and all ... claims thereof for injury to or death of a person... arising directly or indirectly from the activity authorized by the Permit, including but

not limited to... claims brought by customers of Permittee, regardless of the negligence of and regardless of whether liability without fault is imposed...⁷⁴

The <u>Terms of Service between the permittees and Users of the shared device services</u> state (with no option to modify by User other than decline the Service) require the User to:

[Skip]...indemnify and hold Skip, its predecessors, successors, subsidiaries, affiliates, and each of its directors, shareholders, investors, employees and authorized agents harmless from and against all third party claims arising out of or in any way relating to any injury, illness, death or loss of or damage to property allegedly suffered as a result of your use of the Skip Services including the e-scooters or anything that relates to or concerns your use of Skip Services, including the Scooters."⁷⁵

[Scoot] "...indemnify, defend, and hold Scoot Networks harmless from all losses, liabilities, damages, injuries, claims, demands, costs, attorneys' fees, and other expenses incurred by Scoot Networks arising from or related to User's use of a Scoot Networks LEV [Light Electric Vehicle] or any person permitted by User to use a Scoot Networks LEV."⁷⁶

For those permittee Maintenance Services outsourced to workers that are not "W-2 employees", such as the "Skip Rangers", the <u>Skip Charger Agreement between the Ranger and the permittee</u> requires the Ranger to

"...indemnify, protect and hold harmless Skip from any and all claims, demands, damages, suits, losses, liabilities and causes of action arising directly or indirectly from, as a result of or in connection with, your actions (or omissions) arising from the performance of services under this Agreement, including personal injury or death to any person or liability for civil and/or criminal conduct (e.g., assault, battery, fraud), or any liability arising from your failure to comply with the terms of this Agreement."⁷⁷

Limitations of Liability

The <u>Permit Terms between San Francisco and the two permittees</u> place limited liability for infractions by Users on the permittee: "If the SFMTA determines in its sole discretion that the Permittee's users' failure to comply with applicable laws ... has created a threat to public health

Scoot permit at <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-</u> <u>documents/2018/10/scoot permit final 10.12.18.pdf</u>), accessed April 2, 2019.

- ⁷⁶ Scoot Agreement Section 10 at <u>https://scoot.co/legal/united-states/terms-of-service/</u> last updated 10/13/2018], accessed April 2, 2019.
- ¹⁷Skip Charger Agreement dated 9/18/2018, Section 10, Indemnification, at <u>https://skipscooters.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/SkipChargerAgreement 9 18 2018 .html</u>, accessed April 2, 2019.

⁷⁴ (General Requirements, Section 1.5, Skip permit at <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2018/10/skip permit final 10.12.18.pdf</u>, accessed April 2, 2019;

⁷⁵ Skip Agreement Section 12.5 at <u>https://skipscooters.com/terms_of_service.html</u>, Effective Date: September 7, 2018, accessed April 2, 2019.

and safety, such determination shall be grounds for permit suspension or revocation at the discretion of the Director.⁷⁸

The <u>Terms of Service between the permittees and Users</u> limit the liability of the permittee for damages or injuries:

[Skip] "You acknowledge and agree that, to the maximum extent permitted by law, the entire risk arising out of your access to and use of the skip services or anything that relates to or concerns your use of a scooter OR THE SKIP SERVICES, remains with you."⁷⁹

[Scoot Section 12] "In no event shall Scoot Networks or its licensors or suppliers be liable in the aggregate for any damages incurred by you that exceed the greater of

(A) One Hundred Dollars or

(B) The amount of fees you have paid Scoot Networks in the 12 months prior to the Action giving rise to the liability.⁸⁰

[Scoot Section 13] LIMITATIONS; BASIS OF THE BARGAIN APPLICABLE LAW MAY NOT ALLOW THE LIMITATION OR EXCLUSION OF LIABILITY OR INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, SO THE ABOVE LIMITATION OR EXCLUSION MAY NOT APPLY TO YOU.

IN SUCH CASES, YOU AGREE THAT BECAUSE SUCH WARRANTY DISCLAIMERS AND LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY REFLECT A REASONABLE AND FAIR ALLOCATION OF RISK BETWEEN YOU AND SCOOT NETWORKS, AND ARE FUNDAMENTAL ELEMENTS OF THE BASIS OF THE BARGAIN BETWEEN YOU AND SCOOT NETWORKS, SCOOT NETWORKS' LIABILITY WILL BE LIMITED TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW. YOU UNDERSTAND AND AGREE THAT SCOOT NETWORKS WOULD NOT BE ABLE TO OFFER THE SERVICES TO YOU ON AN ECONOMICALLY FEASIBLE BASIS WITHOUT THESE LIMITATIONS."

Inspection and Maintenance: Independent Contractors and User Obligations

The <u>Permit Terms between San Francisco and the two permittees</u> require the permittees [Permittees] to "...keep a record of maintenance activities, including but not limited to Powered

⁷⁸ Skip permit Section 34 <u>at https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2018/10/skip_permit_final_10.12.18.pdf</u>, accessed April 2, 2019, and Scoot permit at <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2018/10/scoot_permit_final_10.12.18.pdf</u>, accessed April 2, 2019.

SFCGJ2018-2019_PedestrianSafety-06.29

⁷⁹ Skip Terms of Service Section 12.2, Limitation of Liability at <u>https://skipscooters.com/terms_of_service.html</u>, accessed April 2, 2019.

⁸⁰ Scoot Terms of Service Sections 12. Limitation of Liability, and 13. Limitations; Basis of the Bargain, at <u>https://scoot.co/legal/united-states/terms-of-service/</u>, accessed April 2, 2019. Text in all upper case font is as presented in the Terms of Service.

Scooter identification number and maintenance performed. These records shall be sent to the SFMTA on a monthly basis.³⁸¹

Section 4 of the Skip Charger Agreement requires the Ranger to:

"...remain responsible for (or assume the risk of not) having a certified expert review and approve your location for safely charging Skip Scooters prior to charging a Scooter, not overloading any electrical equipment while charging a Scooter, providing reasonable spacing and ventilation of Scooters while charging to prevent overheating of the Scooters and Bricks, and for procuring at your sole expense any insurance required under applicable law or private agreements (e.g. leases, condo association rules and similar) relating to the conduct of your independent business."⁸²

Section 3 of the <u>Skip Charger Agreement</u> requires inspection of devices to be the responsibility of the Ranger:

"...[Y]ou agree to perform the following services:

Perform a visual inspection (and other agreed upon services) of the Scooter prior to returning it to an authorized Scooter location or to Skip and notify Skip immediately if the Scooter requires maintenance or repairs."⁸³

Insurance Requirements: User

The Skip <u>Terms of Service between Skip and User</u> place responsibility for safe operation of the Scooter on the User:

"By choosing to operate a Scooter, you assume all responsibility and risk for all medical conditions that may interfere with your safe operation of a Scooter and and/or all risk of injuries to yourself or others."⁸⁴

Scoot provides liability coverage:

"2.1. Scoot Networks provides liability coverage for damages arising from a User's use of Scoot Networks LEVs if the User complies with all rules and requirements of the Terms. The User agrees to use [sic] their own motor vehicle insurance as the primary insurance if available."

⁸³ Skip Charger Agreement dated 9/18/2018, Section 4. Assumption of Risk, at <u>https://skipscooters.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/SkipChargerAgreement 9_18_2018_.html</u>, accessed April 2, 2019.

⁸⁴ Skip Terms of Service Section 9, Rental and Permissible Use of Scooters at <u>https://skipscooters.com/terms_of_service.html</u>, accessed March 15, 2019.

⁸¹ Skip permit Section 43 at <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-</u>documents/2018/10/skip permit final 10.12.18.pdf, accessed April 2, 2019;

Scoot permit Section 43 at <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/reports-and-documents/2018/10/scoot</u> permit final 10.12.18.pdf, accessed April 2, 2019.

⁸² Skip Charger Agreement dated 9/18/2018, Section 4. Assumption of Risk, at <u>https://skipscooters.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/SkipChargerAgreement 9 18 2018 .html</u>, accessed April 2, 2019.

Scoot Networks and our insurance provider offer coverage to the User for up to \$2,000,000 of third party liability for Kick-Scooters and up to \$1,000,000 of third party liability for all other types of LEVs."⁸⁵

Disclaimers Regarding Fitness for a Particular Purpose

The Terms of Service between the permittees and Users require the User to agree that:

[Skip] "By accessing or using the Skip Services, including our scooters, you agree that: Scooters and Related Equipment are provided "As-Is." Scooters are provided on an "as-is" basis. You are responsible for inspecting a Scooter and any related materials that Skip provides to you, such as helmets, locks, etc. to ensure that they are in good working condition prior to using them."⁸⁶

[Scoot] The Services... made available ... are provided on an "As Is", "As Available", "With all faults" basis without representations or warranties of any kind, either expressed or implied, including, but not limited to, in terms of correctness, accuracy, reliability or otherwise. ... Scoot Networks and its affiliates, partners, licensors, and suppliers hereby disclaim all express, implied and statutory warranties of any kind, including, but not limited to, the implied warranties of merchantability [and] fitness for a particular purpose....⁸⁷

SFCGJ2018-2019_PedestrianSafety-06.29

⁸⁵ Scoot Terms of Service Sections 2. Liability Coverage and Deductibles, at <u>https://scoot.co/legal/united-states/terms-of-service/</u>, accessed March 15, 2019.

⁸⁶ Skip Terms of Service Section 9, Rental and Permissible Use of Scooters at <u>https://skipscooters.com/terms_of_service.html</u>, accessed March 15, 2019.

⁸⁷ Scoot Terms of Service Section 11, Disclaimers at <u>https://scoot.co/legal/united-states/terms-of-service/</u>, accessed March 15, 2019.

BOARD of SUPERVISORS



City Hall 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, Room 244 San Francisco 94102-4689 Tel. No. 554-5184 Fax No. 554-5163 TDD/TTY No. 554-5227

MEMORANDUM

Date: July 24, 2019

To: Honorable Members, Board of Supervisors

From: Angela Calvillo, Clerk of the Board

Subject: 2018-2019 CIVIL GRAND JURY REPORT -Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices

On July 17, 2019, the 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury issued a press release, publicly announcing issuance of their report, entitled:

Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices

Pursuant to California Penal Code, Sections 933 and 933.05, the Board must:

- 1. Respond to the report within 90 days of receipt, or no later than October 15, 2019; and
- 2. For each finding the Department response shall:
 - agree with the finding; or
 - disagree with the finding, wholly or partially, and explain why.
- 3. For each recommendation the Department shall report that:
 - the recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of how it was implemented;
 - the recommendation has not been, but will be, implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
 - the recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation of the scope of the analysis and timeframe of no more than six months from the date of release; or
 - the recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Pursuant to San Francisco Administrative Code, Section 2.10, in coordination with the Committee Chair, the Clerk will schedule a public hearing before the Government Audit and Oversight Committee to allow the Board the necessary time to review and formally respond to the findings and recommendations.

Civil Grand Jury Report Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices July 23, 2019 Page 2

The Budget and Legislative Analyst will prepare a resolution, outlining the findings and recommendations for the Committee's consideration, to be heard at the same time as the hearing on the report. These matters are anticipated for hearing in Government Audit and Oversight during a regular committee meeting in September 2019.

If you have any questions, please contact John Carroll, Assistant Clerk, at (415) 554 4445.

Attachments:

July 17, 2019 Press Release; and Report: Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices

c:

Honorable Garrett L. Wong, Presiding Judge Sophia Kittler, Mayor's Office Kanishka Karunaratne Cheng, Mayor's Office Andres Power, Mayor's Office Sally Ma, Mayor's Office Rebecca Peacock, Mayor's Office Jon Givner, Office of the City Attorney Ben Rosenfield, City Controller Todd Rydstrom, Office of the Controller Peg Stevenson, Office of the Controller Tonia Lediju, Office of the Controller Alisa Somera, Office of the Clerk of the Board Debra Newman, Office of the Budget and Legislative Analyst Severin Campbell, Office of the Budget and Legislative Analyst Reuben Holober, Office of the Budget and Legislative Analyst

Jennifer Millman Tell, Office of the Budget and Legislative Analyst Rasha Harvey, 2018-2019 Foreperson, San Francisco Civil Grand Jury

Lori Campbell, 2017-2018 Foreperson, San Francisco Civil Grand Jury

Dr. Grant Colfax, Director, Department of Public Health

Greg Wagner, Department of Public Health Dr. Naveena Bobba, Department of Public Health Sneha Patil, Department of Public Health Ed Reiskin, Executive Director, Municipal Transportation Agency

Kate Breen, Municipal Transportation Agency Janet Martinsen, Municipal Transportation Agency Joel Ramos, Municipal Transportation Agency Viktoriya Wise, Municipal Transportation Agency Chief William Scott, Police Department Rowena Carr, Police Department Asja Steeves, Police Department Deirdre Hussey, Police Department



FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

Contacts: Rasha Harvey, Foreperson, 415-716-8258 Marti Sutherlin, Committee Chairperson, 415-551-3635

*** PRESS RELEASE ***

Are Pedestrians Safe on the Sidewalks and Streets of SF in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices?

San Francisco, CA, July 17, 2019 – The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury (SFCGJ) released a report featuring this question. Pedestrians are the most vulnerable road users-accounting for half of all San Francisco traffic fatalities. As of May 11, 2019, the death of another pedestrian marked the eighth death so far in 2019--four times the number that occurred the same time in 2018.

E-scooters arrived in 2018. This mode of transportation followed various other types of motorized bicycles, skateboards, and unicycles already using the streets and sidewalks of San Francisco. These new devices quickly generated conflict with pedestrians, as some under-informed e-scooter customers used sidewalks as their preferred travel lanes to minimize their own risk of collisions with cars. The expectation of pedestrian safety is eroded when pedestrian rights-of-way are ignored on sidewalks as well as in intersections.

This SFCGJ investigation reviewed the status and progress of San Francisco's efforts in regard to pedestrian safety and emerging mobility options. The key Findings and Recommendations focus on ways to improve **education** and outreach for pedestrians and motorized device users; **enforcement** of existing ordinances and laws to help reduce injuries; **injury data** to capture and identify root causes; and **contractual terms** regarding liability and responsibility for injuries, device maintenance and repair.

Civil Grand Jury reports may be viewed online at <u>http://civilgrandjury.sfgov.org/report.html</u>.

###

Report Title [Publication Date]	F#	Finding (text may be duplicated due to spanning and multiple respondent effects)	Respondent Assigned by CGJ [Response Due Date]	Finding Response (Agree/Disagree)	Finding Response Text	R# [for F#]	Recommendation (text may be duplicated due to spanning and multiple respondent effects)	Respondent Assigned by CGJ [Response Due Date]	Recommendation Response (Implementation)	Recommendation Response Text
Pedestrian Safety In the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]						R6	The Board of Supervisors should allow the Public Safety Advisory Committee to terminate on October 1, 2019 as designated in the San Francisco Municipal Code.	Board of Supervisors [October 15, 2019]		

Report Title [Publication Date]	F#	Finding (text may be duplicated due to spanning and multiple respondent effects)	Respondent Assigned by CGJ [Response Due Date]	Finding Response (Agree/Disagree)	Finding Response Text	R# [for F#]	Recommendation (text may be duplicated due to spanning and multiple respondent effects)	Respondent Assigned by CGJ [Response Due Date]	Recommendation Response (Implementation)	, Recommendation Response Text
Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	F1	The Pilot permittees advocate for safe behavior education for riders through community events and their web sites. However, SFMTA has not provided its own concurrent, updated safety awareness campaign.				R1	SFMTA in coordination with Vision Zero SF should design a public safety campaign regarding e-scotter use, laws, safety and helmet use. This campaign should include TNC participation and utilize various means of outreach including ads on MUNI trains, buses, shelters, social media, and TNC apps no later	Mayor [September 15, 2019]		
Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	F2	The successful expansion of marked and protected bike lanes represents an opportunity to include signage indicating bike lanes are also for use by e-scooter riders. There is no signage currently indicating where e-scooters should ride, and insufficient signage to discourage riding on sidewalks.	Mayor [September 15, 2019]			R2	Signage, stencils, visual symbols illustrating e- scooters, and/or other messaging should be provided to remind mobility device riders that these lanes are available for them to use. Further, additional visual symbols should be added on sidewalks and High-Injury Networks to discourage sidewalk use by e-scooters. The visual design(s) should be developed and implemented by SFMTA no later than June 30, 2020.	Mayor [September 15, 2019]		*
Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	F3	SF Traffic Company enforcement efforts are currently limited to street vehicular traffic and do not include enforcement of moving violations occurring on sidewalks.	Mayor [September 15, 2019]			R3	SFPD Traffic Company should implement one or more "Focus on Five" enforcement campaigns that target moving violations by motor vehicles as well as bicycles and powered mobility devices in all traffic lanes, with documented results no later than June 30, 2020.	Mayor [September 15, 2019]		
Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	F4	Injury data collected to-date by Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital (ZSFG), SF Department of Public Health (SFDPH), SF Police Department (SFPD), and Pilot permittees categorize types of injuries but not root causes such as damaged infrastructure (potholes or poorly marked lanes), education (inadequate safety and device training), or reckless use (speeding, distracted driving, and/or using sidewalks).	Mayor [September 15, 2019]			R4	ZSFG, SFDPH, SFPD, and TNCs should collectively improve injury data reporting to better support root cause analyses. SFMTA and the SFDPH should develop and oversee the revised data collection efforts and prepare a data acquisition plan for review by the above referenced organizations no later than June 30, 2020.	Mayor [September 15, 2019]		
Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	F5	The Pilot terms between the City and permittees require them to indemnify the City from injury and damage claims. However, Scoot and Skip Terms of Service put responsibility for injury, damage, and equipment inspection on the User.	Mayor [September 15, 2019]			R5	SFMTA, City Attorney, and TNCs should review and if necessary modify the City-Permittee agreement, the TNC-User agreement, and any other related agreements to assure that responsibility for risk management is allocated to the party/parties best able to manage such risks. This review and potential modification of risks agreements should be incorporated prior to the end of the existing Pilot. Any necessary revisions should be incorporated and implemented in all agreements for the replacement program to follow at the conclusion of the Pilot.	Mayor [September 15, 2019]		
Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	F6		Mayor [September 15, 2019]			RS	SFMTA, City Attorney, and TNCs should review and if necessary modify the City-Permittee agreement, the TNC-User agreement, and any other related agreements to assure that responsibility for risk management is allocated to the party/parties best able to manage such risks. This review and potential modification of terms across all agreements should be initiated prior to the end of the existing Pilot. Any necessary revisions should be incorporated and implemented in all agreements for the replacement program to follow at the conclusion of the Pilot.	Mayor [September 15, 2019]		

Pedestrian Safety in	F5	The Pilot terms between the City and	City Attack		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	R5	CENATA City Atheness and Thics should an inve	City, 444	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
the Era of Electric	F5		City Attorney					City Attorney		
Mobility Devices		permittees require them to indemnify the City	[September 15, 2019]				and if necessary modify the City-Permittee	[September 15, 2019]		
		from injury and damage claims. However, Scoot					agreement, the TNC-User agreement, and any			
[July 17, 2019]		and Skip Terms of Service put responsibility for					other related agreements to assure that			
		injury, damage, and equipment inspection on					responsibility for risk management is allocated			
		the User.					to the party/parties best able to manage such			
							risks. This review and potential modification of			
							terms across all agreements should be initiated			
			-				prior to the end of the existing Pilot. Any			
							necessary revisions should be incorporated and			
							implemented in all agreements for the			
							replacement program to follow at the			
							conclusion of the Pilot.			
Pedestrian Safety in	F6	Current terms and conditions in the Chin	City Attaca av			R5	CENTA City Attended and Thick should enviro	City Attack of		
the Era of Electric		Current terms and conditions in the Skip	City Attorney			RS	SFMTA, City Attorney, and TNCs should review			
		agreement expose a contractual gap that	[September 15, 2019]				and if necessary modify the City-Permittee	[September 15, 2019]		
Mobility Devices		delegates initial responsibility for scooter					agreement, the TNC-User agreement, and any			
[July 17, 2019]		inspection and maintenance to their					other related agreements to assure that			
		independent contractors, Skip Rangers, who					responsibility for risk management is allocated			
		receive no specific training from Skip. Scoot,					to the party/parties best able to manage such			
		however, hires and trains its employees to					risks. This review and potential modification of			
		provide the inspection and maintenance					terms across all agreements should be initiated			
		services.					prior to the end of the existing Pilot. Any			
							necessary revisions should be incorporated and			
						1	implemented in all agreements for the			
							replacement program to follow at the			
							conclusion of the Pilot.			
Dadaatalas C.C.S.S.		SE Tarffin Commente de la Commente					CERD To # Commenced a 111 - 1			
Pedestrian Safety in	F3	SF Traffic Company enforcement efforts are	Chief, San Francisco Police			R3	SFPD Traffic Company should implement one or			
the Era of Electric		currently limited to street vehicular traffic and	Department				more "Focus on Five" enforcement campaigns	Department		
Mobility Devices		do not include enforcement of moving	[September 15, 2019]				that target moving violations by motor vehicles	[September 15, 2019]		
[July 17, 2019]		violations occurring on sidewalks.					as well as bicycles and powered mobility			
							devices in all traffic lanes, with documented			
							results no later than June 30, 2020.			
D. I. J. J. C. C. L. J.	54									
Pedestrian Safety in	F4	Injury data collected to-date by Zuckerberg San				R4	ZSFG, SFDPH, SFPD, and TNCs should	Chief, San Francisco Police		
the Era of Electric		Francisco General Hospital (ZSFG), SF	Department				collectively improve injury data reporting to	Department		
Mobility Devices		Department of Public Health (SFDPH), SF Police	[September 15, 2019]				better support root cause analyses. SFMTA and	[September 15, 2019]		
[July 17, 2019]		Department (SFPD), and Pilot permittees					the SFDPH should develop and oversee the			
		categorize types of injuries but not root causes					revised data collection efforts and prepare a			
		such as damaged infrastructure (potholes or					data acquisition plan for review by the above			
		poorly marked lanes), education (inadequate					referenced organizations no later than June 30,			
		safety and device training), or reckless use					2020.			
		(speeding, distracted driving, and/or using								
		sidewalks).								
Pedestrian Safety in		The Pilot permittees advocate for safe behavior								
	F1					R1	SFMTA in coordination with Vision Zero SF	Director, San Francisco		
the Era of Electric		education for riders through community events					should design a public safety campaign	Municipal Transportation		
Mobility Devices		and their web sites. However, SFMTA has not	Agency				regarding e-scooter use, laws, safety and	Agency		
[July 17, 2019]		provided its own concurrent, updated safety	[September 15, 2019]				helmet use. This campaign should include TNC	[September 15, 2019]		
		awareness campaign.					participation and utilize various means of			
							outreach including ads on MUNI trains, buses,			
							shelters, social media, and TNC apps no later			
Pedestrian Safety in			Distance Francis				Altern June 20, 2020			
	F2	The successful expansion of marked and	Director, San Francisco			R2	Signage, stencils, visual symbols illustrating e-	Director, San Francisco		
the Era of Electric		protected bike lanes represents an opportunity					scooters, and/or other messaging should be	Municipal Transportation		
Mobility Devices		to include signage indicating bike lanes are also					provided to remind mobility device riders that	Agency		
[July 17, 2019]		for use by e-scooter riders. There is no signage					these lanes are available for them to use.	[September 15, 2019]		
	1	currently indicating where e-scooters should					Further, additional visual symbols should be			
	1	ride, and insufficient signage to discourage					added on sidewalks and High-Injury Networks	1		
	1	riding on sidewalks.					to discourage sidewalk use by e-scooters. The			
	1						visual design(s) should be developed and			
	1									
	1						implemented by SFMTA no later than June 30, 2020.		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
D 1 (1) D 1										
Pedestrian Safety in	F4	Injury data collected to-date by Zuckerberg San				R4	ZSFG, SFDPH, SFPD, and TNCs should	Director, San Francisco		
the Era of Electric	1	Francisco General Hospital (ZSFG), SF	Municipal Transportation				collectively improve injury data reporting to	Municipal Transportation		
Mobility Devices		Department of Public Health (SFDPH), SF Police	Agency				better support root cause analyses. SFMTA and	Agency		
		Department (SFPD), and Pilot permittees	[September 15, 2019]				the SFDPH should develop and oversee the	[September 15, 2019]		
[July 17, 2019]		categorize types of injuries but not root causes				1	revised data collection efforts and prepare a			
				1	1	1		1		
							Idata acquisition plan for review by the above			
		such as damaged infrastructure (potholes or					data acquisition plan for review by the above			
		such as damaged infrastructure (potholes or poorly marked lanes), education (inadequate					referenced organizations no later than June 30,			
		such as damaged infrastructure (potholes or poorly marked lanes), education (inadequate safety and device training), or reckless use								
		such as damaged infrastructure (potholes or poorly marked lanes), education (inadequate					referenced organizations no later than June 30,			

Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	F5				R5	SFMTA, City Attorney, and TNCs should review and if necessary modify the City-Permittee agreement, the TNC-User agreement, and any other related agreements to assure that responsibility for risk management is allocated to the party/parties best able to manage such risks. This review and potential modification of terms across all agreements should be initiated prior to the end of the existing Pilot. Any necessary revisions should be incorporated and implemented in all agreements for the replacement program to follow at the conclusion of the Pilot.	Municipal Transportation Agency [September 15, 2019]	
Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	F6	Current terms and conditions in the Skip agreement expose a contractual gap that delegates initial responsibility for scooter inspection and maintenance to their independent contractors, Skip Rangers, who receive no specific training from Skip. Scoot, however, hires and trains its employees to provide the inspection and maintenance services.	Director, San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency [September 15, 2019]		R5	SFMTA, City Attorney, and TNCs should review and if necessary modify the City-Permittee agreement, the TNC-User agreement, and any other related agreements to assure that responsibility for risk management is allocated to the party/parties best able to manage such risks. This review and potential modification of terms across all agreements should be initiated prior to the end of the existing Pilot. Any necessary revisions should be incorporated and implemented in all agreements for the replacement program to follow at the conclusion of the Pilot.	Municipal Transportation Agency [September 15, 2019]	
Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	F4	Injury data collected to-date by Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital (ZSFG), SF Department of Public Health (SFDPH), SF Police Department (SFPD), and Pilot permittes categorize types of injuries but not root causes such as damaged infrastructure (potholes or poorly marked lanes), education (inadequate safety and device training), or reckless use (speeding, distracted driving, and/or using sidewalks).	Public Health		R4	ZSFG, SFDPH, SFPD, and TNCs should collectively improve injury data reporting to better support root cause analyses. SFMTA and the SFDPH should develop and oversee the revised data collection efforts and prepare a data acquisition plan for review by the above referenced organizations no later than June 30, 2020.	Director, Department of Public Health [September 15, 2019]	
Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	F7	A key obligation of the Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee (PSAC) is to prepare and submit annual reports to the Board of Supervisors (BOS). These reports are to include pedestrian injury and fatality statistics and root cause analysis, to recommend changes in policies, funding and enforcement. PSAC has not prepared or submitted an annual report	Board of Supervisors [October 15, 2019]		R6	The Board of Supervisors should allow the Public Safety Advisory Committee to terminate on October 1, 2019 as designated in the San Francisco Municipal Code.	Board of Supervisors [October 15, 2019]	



July 15, 2019

Angela Calvillo Clerk San Francisco Board of Supervisors City Hall, Room 244 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Ms. Calvillo,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than October 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,

R-6-H-



July 15, 2019

Sandra Lee Fewer Supervisor San Francisco Board of Supervisors City Hall, Room 244 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Supervisor Fewer,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than October 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,

K-4-1-,



July 15, 2019

Catherine Stefani Supervisor San Francisco Board of Supervisors City Hall, Room 244 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Supervisor Stefani,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than October 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,

K-6-H-7



July 15, 2019

Aaron Peskin Supervisor San Francisco Board of Supervisors City Hall, Room 244 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Supervisor Peskin,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than October 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,

R-6-H-1



July 15, 2019

Gordon Mar Supervisor San Francisco Board of Supervisors City Hall, Room 244 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Supervisor Mar,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than October 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,

K-4-H-,



July 15, 2019

Vallie Brown Supervisor San Francisco Board of Supervisors City Hall, Room 244 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Supervisor Brown,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than October 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,

R-6-H-1



July 15, 2019

Matt Haney Supervisor San Francisco Board of Supervisors City Hall, Room 244 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Supervisor Haney,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than October 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,

R-6-H-1



July 15, 2019

Norman Yee President San Francisco Board of Supervisors City Hall, Room 244 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear President Yee,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than October 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,



July 15, 2019

Rafael Mandelman Supervisor San Francisco Board of Supervisors City Hall, Room 244 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Supervisor Mandelman,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than October 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,

Rasha Harvey, Foreperson



July 15, 2019

Hillary Ronen Supervisor San Francisco Board of Supervisors City Hall, Room 244 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Supervisor Ronen,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than October 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,

R-6-H-1



July 15, 2019

Shamann Walton Supervisor San Francisco Board of Supervisors City Hall, Room 244 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Supervisor Walton,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than October 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,

R4H-



July 15, 2019

Ahsha Safai Supervisor San Francisco Board of Supervisors City Hall, Room 244 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Supervisor Safai,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than October 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,

K-H-,



July 15, 2019

Dennis Herrera City Attorney Office of the City Attorney 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, #234 San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Mr. Herrera,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than September 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,



July 15, 2019

Edward D. Reiskin Director of Transportation San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency One South Van Ness Avenue, 7th Floor San Francisco, CA 94103

Dear Mr. Reiskin,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than September 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,



July 15, 2019

The Honorable London Breed Mayor of San Francisco City Hall, Room 200 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Mayor Breed,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than September 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,



July 15, 2019

William Scott Chief of Police San Francisco Police Department 1245 3rd Street, 6th Floor San Francisco, CA 94158

Dear Chief Scott,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than September 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,



July 15, 2019

Dr. Grant Colfax Director of Public Health San Francisco Department of Public Health 101 Grove Street, #308 San Francisco, CA 94102

Dear Dr. Colfax,

The 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury will release a report entitled, "*Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices*" to the public on Wednesday, July 17, 2019. Enclosed is an advanced copy. By order of the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court, Hon. Garrett L. Wong, this report is to be kept confidential until the date of release.

California Penal Code §933(c) requires a response to be submitted to the Presiding Judge no later than September 15, 2019.

California Penal Code §933.05 states that as to each finding, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The respondent agrees with the finding; or
- 2. The respondent disagrees with the finding, wholly or partially, with an explanation.

As to each recommendation, the response must indicate one of the following:

- 1. The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary of the implementation;
- 2. The recommendation has not yet been, but will be implemented in the future, with a timeframe for implementation;
- 3. The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation, scope, and parameters of that analysis, and a timeframe for discussion not more than six months from the publication of the grand jury report; or
- 4. The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable, with an explanation.

Please e-mail your response to Presiding Judge Wong at <u>CGrandJury@sftc.org</u> or mail to 400 McAllister Street, Room 008, San Francisco, CA 94102-4512.

Respectfully,

Print Form		
	Introduction	Form

By a Member of the Board of Supervisors or the Mayor

I hereby submit the following item for introduction (select only one):	Time stamp or meeting date			
1. For reference to Committee. (An Ordinance, Resolution, Motion, or Charter Amendment)				
2. Request for next printed agenda Without Reference to Committee.				
3. Request for hearing on a subject matter at Committee.				
4. Request for letter beginning "Supervisor	inquires"			
5. City Attorney request.				
6. Call File No. from Committee.				
7. Budget Analyst request (attach written motion).				
8. Substitute Legislation File No.				
9. Reactivate File No.				
10. Question(s) submitted for Mayoral Appearance before the BOS on				
Please check the appropriate boxes. The proposed legislation should be forwarded to the following:				
Note: For the Imperative Agenda (a resolution not on the printed agenda), use a Imperative Form.				
Sponsor(s):				
Clerk of the Board				
Subject:				
Board Response - Civil Grand Jury Report - Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices				
The text is listed below or attached:				
Resolution responding to the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court on the findings and recommendations contained in the 2018-2019 Civil Grand Jury Report, entitled "Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices;" and urging the Mayor to cause the implementation of accepted findings and recommendations through his/her department heads and through the development of the annual budget.				
Signature of Sponsoring Supervisor:	era			

to

For Clerk's Use Only: